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MESSAGE FROM CHAIR 

It is a great pleasure to provide this foreword to 
the annual report for the Judicial Commission of 
Victoria for 2018–2019.

Last year was an opportunity to mark the 
establishment of the Commission on 1 July 2017 
as	the	first	permanent	body	of	its	kind	in	Victoria.	

Now in its second year, the Commission has 
continued	to	function	well	and	fulfil	its	role	
to independently investigate complaints 
about	judicial	officers	and	Victorian	Civil	and	
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) members. 

This	year,	249	new	complaints	and	referrals	were	
received about the conduct and capacity of judicial 
officers	and	VCAT	members.	The	vast	majority	of	
complaints investigated by the Commission are 
dismissed. Where complaints and referrals were 
not dismissed, the Commission implemented the 
processes set out in the Judicial Commission of 
Victoria Act 2016, including, in one case, referral of 
a complaint to an Investigating Panel. 

The Commission plays an important role in 
ensuring that the high standards of conduct 
the community expects of the judiciary are 
maintained. It also provides people with an 
accessible and robust avenue through which to 
make complaints. The Commission has made 
significant	efforts	to	raise	awareness	about	its	
role and functions. That important work will 
continue in the coming year. 

I formally welcome Dr Helen Szoke AO as a new 
Board member to the Commission. Dr Szoke 
AO joined us with a wide breadth of experience, 
including her role as the former Chief Executive 
Officer	of	Oxfam	Australia.	She	has	led	a	
distinguished	career	in	the	fields	of	human	rights,	
governance, public policy and leadership. I would 
also like to thank Acting State Coroner Caitlin 
English for her contribution to the Commission 
as an acting member of the Board. 

RESPONSIBLE BODY’S 
DECLARATION

In accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria’s Annual Report for the 
year ending 30 June, 2019. 

Chief Justice Anne Ferguson, Chair

Melbourne 
25	October	2019

I acknowledge the instrumental work of former 
Director, Richard Besley, in helping to establish the 
Commission and ensure it was ready to receive 
complaints. Mr Besley ensured the Commission had 
appropriate systems and procedures in place and we 
are grateful for his work in steering the Commission 
through	its	first	year	of	operation.	I	would	also	like	
to	thank	Jacquie	Harrop	for	stepping	into	the	role	of	
Acting Director from her position as Principal Lawyer 
at the Commission.

In closing, I wish to also thank Board members 
and staff for their hard work, dedication and 
commitment to the Commission’s ongoing success.

I am pleased to present this annual report of the 
Commission.

Chief Justice Anne Ferguson, Chair
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The Commission has engaged the following retired 
judicial	officers	and	VCAT	members	to	provide	advice	
about complaints and referrals, the Honourable David 
Harper AM, the Honourable Ian Gray, the Honourable 
Margaret Rizkalla and Ms Noreen Megay. I would 
like to thank these consultants for providing valuable 
assistance to the Commission during the past 
year. Their extensive experience across a range of 
jurisdictions is invaluable. 

This	year	45%	of	complaints	and	referrals	were	
finalised	within	90	days	of	receipt,	as	compared	
to	74%	in	the	previous	year.	This	increase	in	the	
time	taken	to	deal	with	complaints	is	reflective	
of the high number of complaints received by the 
Commission	in	its	first	two	years.	

From these numbers it became clear that 
additional	resources	were	required	to	improve	the	
time taken to resolve complaints. For this reason, 
the Commission recently recruited another staff 
member to investigate complaints with a view to 
improving future resolution times.

I would like to particularly acknowledge and thank 
the Commission’s staff for their hard work during 
the year. This has assisted in reducing the backlog 
of complaints which remained open at the end of 
the previous year. 

The	Commission	also	moved	office	during	the	year	
and a number of staff members took on additional 
work to help arrange the move. Thanks to their 
efforts the provision of services to the public 
continued uninterrupted.

MESSAGE FROM DIRECTOR

Firstly, I would like to thank our Board members 
for their ongoing leadership and support during the 
Commission’s second year of operations. In particular, 
I would like to thank the Chair of the Commission, 
the Honourable Chief Justice Anne Ferguson, for her 
guidance and mentorship which have been integral 
in establishing the Commission as an important 
organisation	in	ensuring	continued	public	confidence	
in the judiciary, the courts and VCAT. 

The	Commission	received	249	new	complaints	
and referrals in its second year, slightly less than 
the	264	complaints	and	referrals	received	in	the	
previous	financial	year.	In	addition,	77	complaints	
and referrals remained open from the previous 
financial	year.	Of	these	326	complaints	and	
referrals,	251	were	dismissed,	5	were	referred	
to a Head of Jurisdiction, 1 was referred to an 
Investigating Panel, 12 were withdrawn and 61 
remained open as at 30 June 2019.  

It	is	notable	that	5	complaints	were	referred	to	a	
Head of Jurisdiction this year as compared to 2 in 
the	previous	financial	year.	This	may	be	attributable	
to the Commission having increased its public 
profile	and	people	feeling	more	confident	about	
making serious complaints to an independent body.

The majority of complaints received in the 
Commission’s second year of operations were 
made by members of the public with a smaller 
proportion made by members of the legal 
profession.	A	significant	number	of	complaints	
were received from self-represented litigants.

The	assessment	of	the	conduct	of	judicial	officers	
and	non-judicial	VCAT	members	involves	difficult	
questions	of	judgment.	For	this	reason,	the	
Commission changed how some of these complex 
decisions are made. 

The Commission had previously established a 
Committee for each jurisdiction comprising one 
judicial and two non-judicial Board members. A 
decision to refer a matter to a Head of Jurisdiction 
had to be made by the relevant Jurisdiction 
Committee. These are important and often complex 
decisions, so the full Board is now responsible for 
deciding to refer a matter to a Head of Jurisdiction.

The three steps taken before a matter is referred to 
a Head of Jurisdiction and recommendations made 
about	the	future	conduct	of	an	Officer	are	generally:

1. Preliminary consideration by the Director

2. Advice provided by a consultant (a retired 
judicial	officer	or	VCAT	member)

3. Consideration by the Board.

This provides a rigorous process for ensuring a 
high standard of decision making in determining 
whether	a	matter	requires	further	consideration.	
The key grounds for referral are whether the matter 
may affect or has affected the performance of an 
Officer’s	functions,	or	whether	the	conduct	of	the	
Officer	may	have	infringed	the	standards	of	conduct	
generally	expected	of	Officers.

The	Commission	published	its	first	annual	report	in	
December 2018. Other activities to raise awareness 
about the Commission were also undertaken during 
the year. These included meetings with court user 
groups and stakeholders, the release of several 
media statements and regular updates to the 
Commission’s website.

In the year ahead, the Commission will undertake 
further work to raise awareness about its functions 
and the nature of the complaints and referrals it 
investigates. This will involve undertaking a media 
awareness campaign, developing a brochure for 
Indigenous communities, releasing a video explaining 
the Commission’s powers and providing information 
about the Commission in a number of languages 
which are most commonly spoken in Victoria. 

I would like to acknowledge Court Services 
Victoria (CSV) for its administrative support 
in the ongoing operations of the Commission. 
CSV	provides	financial,	IT,	human	resources	and	
procurement support. This is of vital importance 
to the Commission which is a small organisation 
with only six full time and two part time staff. 
The Commission does not have the capacity to 
independently	undertake	these	functions	efficiently.	

 
Jacquie Harrop, Acting Director
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SECTION 1

Governance and 
organisational  

structure

Victorian Civil and 
Administrative 

Tribunal (VCAT)
3 July 2018,  

11.30am
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Who we are 

The Judicial Commission of Victoria is an 
independent body established to investigate 
complaints	about	judicial	officers	and	VCAT	
members.

What we do 

The Commission investigates complaints about 
the	conduct	or	capacity	of	judicial	officers	and	
VCAT members. It does not investigate complaints 
about the correctness of a decision made by a 
judicial	officer	or	VCAT	member. 

Our vision and mission

The Commission seeks to provide a fair and 
transparent complaint process and aims to ensure 
public	confidence	and	trust	in	the	Victorian	courts	
and VCAT is maintained.

Our values 

The Commission’s values align with both the 
values of the Victorian Public Sector Commission 
(VPSC) and Court Services Victoria (CSV).

• VPSC’s values under the Public 
Administration Act 2004 are: responsiveness, 
integrity, impartiality, accountability, respect, 
leadership and human rights. 

• CSV’s values are: service, excellence, courage, 
honesty and respect.

Our governance 

The governing body of the Commission is the 
Board of the Judicial Commission of Victoria. 
The Board consists of six judicial Board members 
(Heads of Jurisdiction) and four community Board 
members appointed by the Governor in Council. 
The Commission	is	led	by	the	Director	who	reports	
to	the Board.

Our Acting Director

Jacquie	Harrop	was	appointed	Acting	Director	
in April 2019 and will continue in this position 
until a permanent Director is appointed. The 
Director is responsible for the administration 
of the Commission. The functions of this role 
include providing administrative assistance to 
any Investigating Panels appointed. The Director 
is also responsible to the Board in relation to the 
operation of the Commission.

Our powers, functions and duties

The Acts and Regulations which govern how the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria operates include: 
the Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016; the 
Constitution Act 1975 and the Protected Disclosures 
Act 2012.

The Commission does not have the power to 
remove	a	judicial	officer	or	VCAT	member	from	
their position. An Investigating Panel has the power 
to write a report for submission to the Governor 
(for	judicial	officers)	or	the	Attorney-General	(for	
non-judicial	officers)	recommending	the	Officer	be	
removed	from	office	if	there	is	proven	misbehaviour	
or incapacity.

Our relationship with the Victorian 
Parliament and other sector agencies 

The Commission was established under the 
Constitution Act 1975. The Victorian Parliament has 
the	power	to	remove	a	judicial	officer	from	office	
and the Attorney-General of Victoria has the power 
to	remove	a	non-judicial	VCAT	member	from	office.	
The Governor in Council in Victoria makes the orders 
for	the	removal	of	Officers.

SNAPSHOT OF THE JUDICIAL 
COMMISSION OF VICTORIA 

This annual report summarises the operations, performance 
and	financial	activities	of	the	Judicial	Commission	of	Victoria	
for 2018–2019. It also includes information and statistics that 

fulfil	the	mandatory	reporting	requirements	contained	in	the	
Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016.

This Commission’s annual report is available on the 
organisation’s website at www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au.
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Senior Lawyer Senior Lawyer Lawyer

Complaints  
Officer

Operations  
Manager

Operations  
Support	Officer

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

The governing body of the Commission is the Board of the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria. This year there were six 
full time	and	two	part	time	staff	members	that	worked	at	

the	Commission’s	offices	in	Melbourne.

Director

Principal Lawyer
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The Honourable 
Justice Anne Ferguson (Chair)	

Chief	Justice, Supreme	Court	
of Victoria	

Chief Justice Ferguson was 
appointed to the Supreme Court 
in 2010 and to the Court of 
Appeal	in	2014.	She	is	the	12th	
Chief Justice of the Supreme 
Court. Before her appointment as 
a judge, Chief Justice Ferguson 
was	a	partner	at	law	firm	Allens	
Arthur Robinson (now Allens 
Linklaters), working in insolvency 
and commercial litigation.

The Honourable Judge 
Peter Kidd	

Chief	Judge, County	Court	
of Victoria	

Chief Judge Kidd began his 
position with the County Court 
on	28	September	2015.	He	has	
lengthy experience in criminal 
trials and appeals and previously 
acted as an International 
Prosecutor at the War Crimes 
Chamber of the State Court of 
Bosnia and Herzegovina. Chief 
Judge Kidd was appointed Senior 
Counsel in 2011 and is a member 
of the Sentencing Advisory 
Council Board. 

The Honourable Magistrate 
Peter Lauritsen	

Chief	Magistrate, Magistrates’	
Court of Victoria 

Chief Magistrate Lauritsen is 
an Adjunct Professor in the 
College of Law and Justice at 
Victoria University. Some of 
his other experience includes 
solicitor and partner at Cain 
and Lamers, Magistrate of 
the Northern Territory and 
Magistrate in charge of the 
Crimes Compensation Tribunal 
and Supervising Magistrate, 
Accident and Workers’ 
Compensation Section.

The Honourable Judge 
Amanda Chambers	

President, Children’s Court 
of Victoria	

Judge Chambers was appointed 
a Judge of the County Court 
of Victoria and President of 
the Children’s Court of Victoria 
on	9	June	2015.	Prior	to	her	
appointment, Judge Chambers 
served as a Magistrate of 
the State of Victoria for over 
eight years and as a part-time 
Commissioner of the Victorian 
Law Reform Commission from 
2008 to 2012. Prior to her 
appointment as a Magistrate, 
Judge Chambers was a solicitor 
specialising in industrial relations 
and employment law. 

The Honourable Caitlin English  

Acting State Coroner, Coroners 
Court of Victoria 

Acting State Coroner English 
started her career as a solicitor at 
Minter Ellison and has also worked 
for the Legal Aid Commission 
of Victoria (now Victoria Legal 
Aid) and the Public Interest Law 
Clearing House (now Justice 
Connect). She has been a Coroner 
at the Coroners Court of Victoria 
for	the	last	five	years	and	was	
appointed Deputy State Coroner 
on 16 April 2019. She commenced 
as Acting State Coroner in April 
2019. Prior to her appointment 
to the Coroners Court, Acting 
State Coroner English served as a 
Magistrate for more than 13 years.

The Honourable Justice 
Michelle Quigley	

President, Victorian Civil and 
Administrative	Tribunal	(VCAT)

Justice Quigley was appointed to 
the Supreme Court in December 
2017	and	is	the	first	woman	to	
be appointed as the President 
of VCAT. Prior to her Supreme 
Court appointment, Justice 
Quigley spent almost 30 years 
as a barrister specialising in 
administrative law, including 
planning and environmental 
law, and land valuation and 
acquisition.

GOVERNANCE 

The governing body of the Commission is the Board of 
the Judicial Commission of Victoria. The Board consists 

of six judicial Board members and four non-judicial 
Board members appointed by the Governor in Council. 

Judicial Board members 

12 Judicial Commission of Victoria Annual Report 2018–2019 13



Mr Graham Atkinson 

Member	appointed	1	July	2017	
(5-year	term)	

Mr Atkinson is Director and 
Principal Consultant at Atkinson 
Consulting Group and has 
nearly 30 years’ experience 
consulting with government and 
Indigenous communities on 
matters including land justice and 
heritage, economic and social 
planning, good governance and 
change	management. 

Ms Claire Keating 

Member	appointed	1	July	2017	
(5-year	term)	

Ms Keating is a chartered 
accountant	with	over	25	years’	
experience in superannuation 
and funds management. She is a 
Director of companies including 
NAB Wealth subsidiaries and 
is also Director of Yooralla, a 
not-for-profit	organisation,	and	
Victoria’s largest non-government 
provider	of	disability	services. 

Ms Helen Silver AO 

Member	appointed	1	July	2017	
(5-year	term)	

Ms Silver AO is the Chief General 
Manager at Allianz Australia and 
has had a long and distinguished 
career in the public sector 
including as Secretary of the 
Department of Premier and 
Cabinet (DPC) from 2008 until 
June	2013. 

Dr Helen Szoke AO

Member appointed 26 March 
2019	(5-year	term)

Dr Szoke AO has a wide breadth 
of experience, including as the 
Chief	Executive	Officer	of	Oxfam	
Australia, Race Discrimination 
Commissioner for the Australian 
Human Rights Commission 
and	CEO	of	the	Victorian	Equal	
Opportunity and Human Rights 
Commission. She has led a 
distinguished	career	in	the	fields	
of human rights, governance, 
public policy and leadership.

Non-judicial 
Board members 
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Establishing other Committees 
The Board has established a Judicial Commission 
Committee, with a number of delegated functions 
under the Act. The structure of the Committee 
facilitates	efficient	decision	making.

A	quorum	for	a	meeting	of	the	Judicial	Commission	
Committee is two Board members, of whom:

a. at least one must be a judicial member

b. at least one must be an appointed member. 

Judicial Commission Committee 
members 
To	facilitate	efficient	decision	making,	the	Judicial	
Commission Committee (JCC) was established and 
a number of powers and functions of the Judicial 
Commission	were	delegated	to	the	JCC.	A	quorum	
of	two	Board	members	is	required	for	a	meeting	of	
the JCC. 

All Board members are members of the JCC.

Committees 
Audit and Risk Portfolio Committee 
membership and roles 

The Audit and Risk Portfolio Committee (ARPC) is 
a Standing Committee of Court Services Victoria 
(CSV), and thereby a Sub-Committee of the Courts 
Council,	that	meets	on	a	quarterly	basis.	The	ARPC	
serves as the Risk and Audit Committee of the 
Commission.

The ARPC acts in an advisory capacity to foster the 
development of an internal annual audit program; 
assess	the	accuracy	of	the	financial	statements;	and	
ensure	the	effectiveness	and	efficiency	of	financial	
systems and processes of the Commission are 
consistent	with	the	requirements	of	the	Financial 
Management Act 1994, the Audit Act 1994, and other 
legislation	and	prescribed	requirements.

The purpose of the ARPC is to assist the Board to 
fulfil	its	oversight	responsibilities	relating	to: 

• the	integrity	and	quality	of	the	Commission’s	
financial	reporting	and	disclosures

• the	adequacy	of	the	Commission’s	Risk	
Management Framework and its use by 
management to identify and manage key risks

• the	adequacy	of	the	Internal	Control	Framework	
to	mitigate	key	business,	financial,	fraud	and	
regulatory risks

• the independence, work plan (including annual 
audit	of	the	Commission’s	financial	statements),	
and effectiveness of External Auditor

• the	independence,	qualifications,	engagement,	
fees, scope of work and effectiveness of the 
Commission’s internal audit function

• compliance with relevant laws, regulations, 
standards and codes.

The ARPC consists of the following members: 

• Mr Stewart Leslie, Chair, non-judicial member

• Dr Philip Williams AM, non-judicial member

• The Honourable Justice Michael McDonald, 
judicial member (appointed August 2018)

• The Honourable Judge Philip Ginnane, judicial 
member (appointed March 2019)

• The Honourable Magistrate Phillip Goldberg, 
judicial member

• Ms Elizabeth (Liz) Camilleri, non-judicial member

ARPC	members	who	ceased	to	hold	office	or	
resigned	from	office	during	the	financial	year	
include:

• The Honourable Justice Peter Almond, Supreme 
Court of Victoria (ceased November 2018)

• The Honourable Judge Paul Lacava, County Court 
of Victoria (ceased February 2019)

• Dr Margaret Salter, independent member 
(resigned November 2018)

• Ms Kylie Maher, independent member (resigned 
January 2019)
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SECTION 2

Judicial Commission 
of Victoria Act 2016 
and functions of the 

Commission

Heidelberg 
Magistrates’ Court

6 August 2018, 10am
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The Judicial Commission  
of Victoria Act 2016 

The Judicial Commission of 
Victoria Act 2016 (the Act) 

establishes a consistent and 
transparent process for the 
receipt and investigation of 

complaints about judicial 
officers¹ and non-judicial 

VCAT members (Officers). 
Prior to the Act, complaints 

were dealt with by the relevant 
Head of Jurisdiction.

1. A judicial officer is defined by s.87AAA of the Constitution Act 1975 to include a Judge, Reserve Judge, Associate Judge and a Reserve 
Associate Judge of the Supreme and County Courts, a Judge or Reserve Judge of the County Court who is appointed or assigned to VCAT, 
a Magistrate, a Reserve Magistrate, a Magistrate or Reserve Magistrate who is appointed or assigned to the Children’s Court, the Coroners 

Court or VCAT, a Reserve Coroner, a person appointed under s.94 of the Coroners Act 2008 and a judicial registrar.
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FUNCTIONS OF THE COMMISSION 

Complaints 
Who can make a complaint? 

Any member of the public or the legal profession can 
make a complaint to the Commission. 

The Law Institute of Victoria and the Bar Association 
can refer complaints on behalf of their members without 

disclosing the identity of the complainant. 

What type of complaints can the 
Commission investigate? 

Complaints made to the Commission must relate 
to	one	of	the	following	Victorian	judicial	officers	or	
VCAT members:

• a	Judge	of	the	Supreme	Court	or the	County	Court

• a Magistrate of the Magistrates’ Court or 
Children’s Court

• a Coroner of the Coroners Court

• a VCAT member

• a judicial registrar of the Supreme Court, the 
County Court, the Magistrates’ Court and the 
Children’s Court or the Coroners Court.

The Commission can investigate complaints about 
the	conduct	or	capacity	of	Officers.	For	example:

• excessive delay in handing down a judgment

• inappropriate remarks made in the courtroom

• health	issues	which	may	affect	the	Officer’s	ability	
to	perform	their	official	functions.

The Commission cannot investigate complaints about:

• the correctness of a decision made by a judicial 
officer	or	VCAT	member

• court or VCAT staff members

• a	person	who	is	no	longer	a	judicial	officer	or	non-
judicial VCAT member

• the	conduct	of	judicial	officers	in	federal	courts	
or tribunals such as the Family Court and the 
Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT).

COMPLAINT OR REFERRAL RECEIVED BY THE COMMISSION

Complaint

Referral

a. A person 
(s.5,	the	Act)

e. Head of Jurisdiction of a court 
(s.7(1), the Act)

f. President of VCAT 
(s.7(2), the Act)

g. Attorney-General 
(s.8, the Act)

b.	LIV	 
(s.6(1), the Act)

c. Victorian Bar  
(s.6(2), the Act)

d. IBAC 
(s.9(1), the Act)

How to make a complaint

A complaint can be made to the Commission by 
completing the complaint form available on its 
website at www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au. 
When submitting a complaint online any relevant 
documents or information can also be attached.

The Law Institute of Victoria and the Victorian Bar 
may make a complaint to the Commission on behalf 
of a member without disclosing the identity of the 
complainant. 

What actions can the Commission take when 
a complaint is made?

Having considered a complaint, the Commission 
must do one of the following:

• dismiss the complaint

• if it is a very serious complaint, which if true, 
warrants	removal	from	office	on	grounds	
of misbehaviour or incapacity, refer it to an 
Investigating Panel for a full investigation

• if it is a less serious complaint refer it 
to the relevant Head of Jurisdiction with 
recommendations about the future conduct of the 
Officer	concerned.

Dismissal of a complaint 

The Act sets out a range of grounds upon which 
a complaint will be dismissed. For example, 
complaints which are trivial, vexatious, relate to a 
person	who	is	no	longer	a	judicial	officer	or	VCAT	
member, or relate solely to the correctness of a 
decision. If a complaint is dismissed, the relevant 
Head	of	Jurisdiction,	the	judicial	officer	concerned	
and	the	complainant	will	be	notified	of	the	dismissal	
of the complaint. A matter may also be dismissed by 
an Investigating Panel.
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Referral to a Head of Jurisdiction 

If the Commission has not dismissed a complaint or 
referred it to an Investigating Panel, the Commission 
must refer the matter to the relevant Head of 
Jurisdiction. 

The	Officer	concerned	will	be	notified	about	the	
nature of the complaint and have the opportunity 
to respond prior to a decision being made about 
whether to refer the complaint to the Head of 
Jurisdiction. If a complaint is referred to the 
Head	of	Jurisdiction,	the	Officer	concerned	and	
the Head of Jurisdiction will be provided with a 
report	which	sets	out	the	Commission’s	findings	
following investigation of the complaint and also the 
Commission’s recommendations.

The Head of Jurisdiction must have regard to the 
Commission’s report and may do one or more of the 
following:

• counsel	the	Officer	in	respect	of	the	complaint

• make	recommendations	to	the	Officer	about	
future conduct

• exercise any other powers of the Head of 
Jurisdiction.

After	finalisation,	the	Head	of	Jurisdiction	must	
provide a report to the Commission stating the 
outcome of the referral of the complaint and the 
reasons for that outcome. A copy of that report will 
also be provided to the complainant.

Referral to an Investigating Panel 

Under the Act, the Commission must refer 
a complaint to an Investigating Panel if the 
Commission is of the opinion that it could, if 
substantiated, amount to proved misbehaviour or 
incapacity	such	as	to	warrant	removal	from	office.	

An Investigating Panel is appointed by the Board and 
comprises three members – two former or current 
Officers	or	VCAT	members	and	one	community	
member of high standing selected from the pool of 
people appointed for this purpose. 

An Investigating Panel has a broad range of 
investigatory powers including the power to 
conduct	a	hearing,	the	power	to	require	production	
of documents and the power to issue witness 
summonses. A hearing is closed to the public unless 
exceptional circumstances exist.

Having investigated the complaint, the Investigating 
Panel must do one of the following:

• dismiss the complaint

• refer it to the relevant Head of Jurisdiction with 
recommendations about the future conduct of the 
Officer	concerned

• draft	a	report	recommending	the	Officer	
be	removed	from	office	if	there	is	proven	
misbehaviour or incapacity.

When can an Officer be stood down? 

The relevant Head of Jurisdiction may stand down 
an	Officer	(other	than	another	Head	of	Jurisdiction	
or	an	Officer	of	the	Supreme	Court	or	the	County	
Court)	from	office.	This	can	occur	at	any	time	if	they	
believe that the continued performance of functions 
by	the	Officer	is	likely	to	impair	public	confidence	in	
the impartiality, independence, integrity or capacity 
of that person or the relevant court or tribunal and 
immediate	action	is	required.	

The Commission or an Investigating Panel may 
make a recommendation to a Head of Jurisdiction 
that	an	Officer	be	stood	down.	If	the	Officer	in	
question	is	a	Head	of	Jurisdiction	or	an	Officer	of	
the Supreme Court or County Court the relevant 
council of judges may make a determination that 
the	Officer	be	stood	down.	Standing	down	an	Officer	
differs	from	removing	an	Officer	from	office,	in	that	
standing	down	an	Officer	is	temporary.	

A	Head	of	Jurisdiction	can	stand	down	an	Officer	
for a period of 21 days. The Commission or an 
Investigating Panel may make a recommendation 
that	an	Officer	be	stood	down	from	office	or	
continue	to	be	stood	down	from	office,	after	the	
expiration of 21 days, pending the outcome of a 
complaint or referral.

When can an Officer be required to undergo 
a medical examination? 

If the Board or an Investigating Panel reasonably 
believes	an	Officer	may	be	suffering	from	an	
impairment, disability, illness or condition that may 
significantly	affect	the	Officer’s	performance	of	
their	functions,	it	may	require	an	Officer	to	undergo	
any medical examination it considers necessary. 
The	Officer	concerned	must	be	given	a	copy	of	
the	medical	report.	The	Officer	may	then	submit	a	
medical report prepared by a registered medical 
practitioner which addresses the matters set out in 
the	report	provided	to	the	Officer.

Powers of Heads of Jurisdictions 

The Act provides the Heads of Jurisdiction with the 
power to:

• ensure the effective, orderly and expeditious 
discharge of the business of the court

• do all the things necessary or convenient to 
perform these responsibilities.
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Dismissal of a complaint Referral to Head of Jurisdiction

Complaint/referral received by Commission ss.5-9

Consideration of complaint by Commission s.13(1)

Mandatory dismissal grounds

A complaint must be dismissed, unless the Commission 
is satisfied:

a. it could, if substantiated, amount to proved 
misbehaviour or incapacity, such as to warrant 
removal from office

b. it warrants further consideration on the ground that:
i. it may affect or have affected the performance of 

the Officer’s functions
ii. the conduct of the Officer may have infringed the 

standards of conduct generally expected of judicial 
officers or VCAT members s.16(1)

A complaint must be dismissed if:

a. made by a vexatious complainant

b. not about a judicial officer or VCAT member

c. conduct occurred before person became a judicial 
officer or VCAT member and not conduct which would 
warrant removal from office

d. solely about merits or lawfulness of decision

e. relates to the Officer’s private life and doesn’t affect 
performance of the Officer’s functions or suitability to 
hold office

f. frivolous, vexatious or not made in good faith

g. Officer has resigned or retired and is no longer in 
office 

ss.16(2) & (3)

Discretionary dismissal grounds

A complaint may be dismissed 
if:

a. not substantiated

b. occurred at too remote a 
time

c. having regard to all the 
circumstances, investigation 
or further investigation is 
unnecessary or unjustified 
s.16(4)

Complaint dismissed s.13(2)

Complainant, Officer and Head of Jurisdiction notified

ss.20(1), 21(1) & 23(1)

Dismissal of a complaint

Complaint/referral received by Commission ss.5-9

Consideration of complaint by Commission s.13(1)

Officer must be given written notice about complaint and given opportunity to respond before 
complaint is referred ss.13(4)(a) & 14

If complaint has not been dismissed or referred to an Investigating Panel, Commission must refer it 
to the Officer’s Head of Jurisdiction s.13(4)

Commission must consult with Head of Jurisdiction before referring complaint s.15(1)

Commission must provide Head of Jurisdiction with a report which sets out – findings of fact, 
assessment of appropriateness of conduct and recommendation about future conduct s.19(3)

Officer must be given a copy of report provided to the Head of Jurisdiction s.21(4)

Complainant must be given written notice of referral to a Head of Jurisdiction 
Notice must include reasons for referral s.23(4) & (5)

On receiving report, Head of Jurisdiction may:

a. counsel the Officer
b. make recommendations about future conduct
c. exercise any other powers s.115(1)

Head of Jurisdiction/nominated person must:

a. have regard to the report (in making a decision 
under s.115)

b. provide a report to the Commission stating the 
outcome of the referral and the reasons for that 
outcome ss.116 & 117

If there is more than one nominated 
Head of Jurisdiction, the matter may 
be dealt with jointly or separately. 
If separate, then each Head of 
Jurisdiction must provide a report 
ss.118.

On receiving report, the Commission must give a copy to the complainant s.119

Referral to Head of Jurisdiction
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Referral to an Investigating Panel

Complaint/referral received by Commission ss.5-9

Referral to an Investigating Panel

Consideration of complaint by Commission s.13(1)

Referral to an Investigating Panel if the Commission is of the opinion that it could, if substantiated, 
amount to proved misbehaviour or incapacity such as to warrant removal from office s.13(3)(a)

Officer to be given the opportunity to respond before referring complaint s.13(3)(b)

Investigating Panel to be appointed comprising:
• a judicial officer or VCAT member,
• a former judicial officer or VCAT Member,
• a person who has been appointed to a pool on the recommendation of the Attorney-General 

s.87AAS Constitution Act 1975

Judicial officers
The Investigating Panel may prepare a report 
for the Governor if it forms the opinion that 
facts exist that could warrant the removal of 
an Officer on the grounds of misbehaviour or 
incapacity s.34(4).
A copy of the report must be provided to the 
Attorney-General who must cause a copy to be 
laid before each House of the Parliament s.39.
The Officer concerned must also be given a 
copy of the report s.43(3).
The Governor in Council may remove the 
holder of a judicial office from that office on 
the presentation to the Governor of an address 
from both Houses of Parliament agreed to by a 
special majority in the same session s.87AAB 
Constitution Act 1975.

VCAT members
The Investigating Panel may prepare a report 
for the Attorney-General if it forms the opinion 
that facts exist that could warrant the removal 
of the member concerned on the grounds of 
misbehaviour or incapacity s.34(5).
A copy of the report must be provided to the 
Attorney-General who must cause a copy to be 
laid before each House of Parliament s.40.
The member concerned must also be given a 
copy of the report s.43(3).
The Attorney-General, after consulting 
with the head of VCAT, may recommend to 
the Governor in Council that the member 
concerned be removed from office s.120.
The Governor in Council may remove a 
member on the recommendation of the 
Attorney-General, but not otherwise s.121.

Complaint investigated by the Investigating Panel which has a broad range of powers including:
• power to conduct a hearing s.55
• power to require production of documents s.69
• power to issue a witness summons s.70

The Officer may provide written submissions responding to the complaint. If a hearing is held 
the Officer may have legal representation. A hearing is closed to the public unless exceptional 
circumstances exist s.62
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SECTION 3

A year in review County Court of Victoria
2nd November 2018,  

11.15am	
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 
2018–2019

6 September 2018

An Investigating Panel 
dismisses two referrals 

concerning former 
Magistrate Raj Malhotra on 

the grounds that he resigned 
from	office	and	was	no	
longer	a	judicial	officer.

19 December 2018

The Commission publishes 
its	first	annual	report.

1 April 2019

The Commission appoints 
Ms Jacquie Harrop	as	

Acting Director following 
the resignation of Mr 

Richard Besley to pursue an 
opportunity in the private 

sector.

8 April 2019

The Commission refers 
one allegation concerning 
the conduct of then State 
Coroner, the Honourable 

Judge Sara Hinchey to an 
Investigating Panel.

25 April 2019

An Investigating Panel is 
appointed to investigate 

one allegation about Judge 
Sara Hinchey.

26 April 2019

The Commission moves to 
new	office	premises.
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Conflict of interest
The	complaint	alleged	the	Officer	
appeared as the legal representative 
for some of the applicants to a proceeding and did 
not	disclose	he	was	an	Officer	in	his	jurisdiction.	
During a break in the proceeding, the opposing party 
noticed	the	Officer	use	a	security	card	to	access	an	
area	reserved	only	for	Officers	and	staff	and	which	
was off limits to the public. After conducting some 
internet research, the opposing party discovered the 
Officer	was	an	Officer	in	the	jurisdiction.	

Decision

Upon investigation, the Commission found the 
Officer	had	disclosed	to	his	Head	of	Jurisdiction	
that his spouse was a party to the proceeding 
but did not disclose that he would be appearing. 
The Commission was also of the view that the 
Officer’s	conduct	had	the	potential	to	give	rise	to	
apprehended	bias	in	respect	of	the	Officer	presiding	
in the proceeding. 

For these reasons, the Commission referred the 
complaint to the Head of Jurisdiction on the grounds 
that	the	Officer’s	conduct	infringed	the	standards	of	
conduct	generally	expected	of	judicial	officers	and	
non-judicial VCAT members.

In	terms	of	the	future	conduct	of	the	Officer,	the	
Commission	recommended	the	Officer:

a. ensure	any	future	conflict	of	interest	declarations	
they make disclose all relevant matters

b. seek counselling from their Head of Jurisdiction 
concerning the conduct which gave rise to the 
complaint.

The	Officer	accepted	the	criticisms	of	his	conduct	
and was counselled by his Head of Jurisdiction. As 
a result of the complaint, the Head of Jurisdiction 
reviewed the court processes concerning 
disclosure	of	conflicts	of	interest.	

Lack of impartiality
The	complainant	alleged	the	Officer:

a. displayed open hostility towards them 
and contemptuous disregard for anything 
they said

b. was biased in favour of the other party, had 
made their mind up prior to the hearing and 
blindly accepted everything counsel for the 
other party said

c. the	final	judgment	was	infected	with	bias	as	
it did not include the complainant’s evidence.

Decision

The Commission considered a recording and the 
transcript of the proceeding, together with the 
decision	made	by	the	Officer.	The	audio-visual	
recording of the proceeding did not disclose 
any evidence to support the allegations that the 
Officer	had	displayed	open	hostility	towards	
or contemptuous disregard for anything the 
complainant said. The Commission reviewed 
the	decision	made	by	the	Officer	and	it	did	not	
include the complainant’s evidence because that 
evidence related to an issue which was not one 
of the appeal grounds. Each of the allegations 
was dismissed on the grounds that they had not 
been substantiated.

CASE STUDIES 

1 2 3 4Incorrect decision
The complainant alleged that her  
ex-partner committed perjury and the 
judicial	officer	failed	to	consider	her	evidence	in	a	
family violence intervention order application. The 
complainant emailed documents to the court prior 
to the hearing, but did not attend court on the day 
of the hearing. 

Decision

The Commission dismissed the complaint as 
it related solely to the merits or lawfulness 
of	the	decision	made	by	the	judicial	officer.	
The Commission does not have jurisdiction to 
investigate complaints which relate solely to the 
merits or lawfulness of a decision or procedural 
ruling	made	by	the	judicial	officer	concerned.

Inappropriate comments  
and overbearing conduct
The complainant alleged the judicial 
officer	made	persistent	and	derogatory	comments	
towards a party in court which was not an appropriate 
method or forum for expressing such matters.

Decision

The Commission investigated the complaint by 
listening to an audio recording of the proceeding. 
It considered that the forcefulness with which 
the	judicial	officer	made	his	point	was	likely	to	be	
distressing for the party concerned. Some of the 
comments	made	by	the	judicial	officer	were	strongly	
worded, inappropriate and offensive. The criticisms 
were	amplified	because	they	were	used	repeatedly	
by	the	judicial	officer	on	three	occasions	during	the	
hearing.	The	judicial	officer’s	sarcasm	was	repeatedly	
cynical and this added to the impression the judicial 
officer	was	hectoring	and	mocking	the	party.	The	
repeated use of sarcasm can become a form of 
bullying and the Commission formed the view that it 
was	not	appropriate	for	the	judicial	officer	to	make	
strongly-worded complaints about the party. 

The Commission referred the complaint to the Head 
of Jurisdiction because the matter warranted further 
consideration on the grounds that the conduct of the 
Officer	may	have	infringed	the	standards	of	conduct	
generally	expected	of	judicial	officers	and	non-
judicial VCAT members. 

The	Commission	recommended	the	judicial	officer:

a. treat all court users with courtesy and respect

b. restrain from excessive criticism, the repeated 
use of sarcasm and other overbearing conduct 

c. consider undertaking training on effective 
communication.

The	judicial	officer	accepted	the	Commission’s	
recommendations and resolved to treat all court 
users with courtesy, dignity and respect and to 
refrain from displaying excessive criticism, sarcasm 
and overbearing conduct. 
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Complaints
Number of complaints received 

In its second year of operations, the Commission 
received	248	complaints	and	1	referral	from	192	
complainants. In addition, 77 complaints² received 
in 2017–2018 remained open at the start of 
2018–2019. 

Of	the	249	complaints	and	referrals	received	in	2018–
2019,	a	total	of	164	judicial	officers	and	non-judicial	
VCAT members were the subject of a complaint or 
referral. Further, 20 complaints did not relate to a 
judicial	officer	or	a	non-judicial	VCAT	member.	

Time taken to deal with complaints 

At	30	June	2019,	88%	of	all	complaints	and	referrals	
had	been	finalised	by	the	Commission.

• 18%	of	complaints	and	referrals	were	finalised	
within 30 days of receipt

• 9%	of	complaints	and	referrals	were	finalised	
between 31 and 60 days of receipt 

• 18%	of	complaints	and	referrals	were	finalised	
between 61 and 90 days of receipt

• 55%	of	complaints	and	referrals	were	finalised	
after 90 days of receipt.

In	the	2018–2019	financial	year	the	Commission	
closed	45%	of	complaints	within	90	days	of	receipt,	
compared	to	74%	in	the	2017–2018	financial	year.		
Key reasons for this increase include:

• the receipt of an increased number of more 
complex	complaints	which	required	more	time	to	
investigate;

• insufficient	staff	to	investigate	complaints	in	a	
timely manner; and

• the majority of the 77 complaints that remained 
open at the end of 2017–2018 and which were 
subsequently	closed	in	2018–2019	took	more	
than	90	days	to	finalise.	

Outcome of complaints 

There are three possible outcomes available to 
the Commission when it receives a complaint or 
a referral: 

a. dismiss the complaint or referral

b. refer the complaint or referral to the Head of 
Jurisdiction with recommendations about the 
future	conduct	of	the	Officer	

c. refer the complaint or referral to an Investigating 
Panel.

Of	the	249	complaints	and	referrals	received	in	
2018–2019 and the 77 complaints which remained 
open at the end of 2017–2018 (a total of 326 
complaints and referrals):

• 251	were	dismissed

• 5	were	referred	to	a	Head	of	Jurisdiction

• 1 was referred to an Investigating Panel

• 12 were withdrawn

• 61 remained open.

Some complaints had multiple outcomes. For 
example, part of the complaint was dismissed 
and part of the complaint was referred to a Head 
of Jurisdiction.

248 complaints 
and 1 referral from 
192 complainants.
Plus 77 complaints 

received in 2017–2018 
remained open.

Of these 326 complaints 
and referrals, 251 were 

dismissed, 5 were referred 
to a Head of Jurisdiction, 

1 was referred to an 
investigating panel and 

12 were withdrawn.

KEY RESULTS 2018–2019

Time taken 
to deal with 
complaints 

9%	between	 
31 and 

60 days	

18%	
between  

61 and 90 
days

2. The 2017-2018 Annual Report stated in error that 72 complaints remained open 
as at 30 June 2018, it should have stated that 77 complaints remained open as at 
this date.

55%	after	
90 days

18%	within	
30 days
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Nature of complaint 

During	2018–2019,	50%	of	complaints	received	
alleged	an	Officer	had	made	an	incorrect	decision.	
The Commission has no jurisdiction to consider 
complaints solely about the merits or lawfulness 
of a decision or procedural ruling. It is necessary to 
appeal a decision to a higher court if a complainant 
believes an error has been made. During the same 
period,	29%	of	complaints	received	in	2018–2019	
alleged there had been a failure to give a fair 
hearing. Many complainants made multiple 
allegations.

Nature and scope of complaints 
Complaints by jurisdiction 

The distribution of complaints received in 
2018–2019 across the jurisdictions broadly 
reflects	the	volume	of	proceedings	dealt	with	by	
the jurisdictions. Notably, the Magistrates’ Court 
and VCAT are the jurisdictions which deal with 
the highest volume of proceedings and also have 
the largest number of complaints.

While the number of complaints received is 
significant,	it	represents	an	extremely	small	
proportion of the total number of cases dealt with 
by the Victorian courts and VCAT in the 2018–2019 
financial	year.	For	example,	93	complaints	were	
received about the Magistrates’ Court which 
finalised	265,855	cases	during	the	same	period.	
Over	the	same	period,	84	complaints	were	received	
about	VCAT	which	finalised	83,414	matters.	The	
complaint	rate	was	approximately	0.03%	and	0.1%	
for the Magistrates’ Court and VCAT respectively. 
Given the volume of work performed by the Victorian 
courts and VCAT, the number of complaints is, 
therefore, comparatively small. 

JURISDICTION
TOTAL	

COMPLAINTS
PERCENTAGE 

OF	TOTAL

Magistrates’ Court 93 37%

VCAT 84 34%

County Court 28 11%

Supreme Court 28 11%

Children’s Court 8 3%

Other 4 2%

Coroners Court 4 2%

Complaints by 
jurisdiction 

84 VCAT

93 Magistrates’ Court

4 Coroners Court

County	Court 28

Supreme	Court 28

Children’s	Court 8

Other 4

NATURE OF COMPLAINT
TOTAL 

COMPLAINTS
PERCENTAGE 

OF TOTAL

Incorrect decision 124 50%

Failure to give fair hearing 73 29%

Bias 57 23%

Inappropriate comments 37 15%

Denial of due process 31 12%

Failure to act in judicial manner 28 11%

Delay 26 10%

Rudeness 19 8%

Corruption 13 5%

Prejudice 13 5%

Conflict	of	interest 8 3%

Overbearing conduct 7 3%

Incapacity 3 1%

Inappropriate	questions 2 1%

Apprehension of bias 1 0%

Failure to provide medical assistance 1 0%
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Exercise of powers by an Investigating Panel

The following powers were exercised by an 
Investigating Panel under part 5 of the Act in 
2018–2019:

Number of search warrants issued by 
Supreme Court on application of an 
Investigating Panel

nil

Number of hearings held by 
Investigating Panels and whether 
hearing was held in public or private

1
(Directions 
hearing)

Number of notices issued under s.69 
of	the	Act	requiring	production	of	a	
document or thing

3

Number of witness summonses under 
s.70 of the Act

nil

Number of claims for privilege 
determined by Supreme Court under 
s.95	of	the	Act	

nil

Outcomes of investigations by an 
Investigating Panel

The outcomes of investigations by an Investigating 
Panel	determined	in	2018–2019	were:

Number of matters dismissed and grounds 
on which those matters were dismissed

2*

Number	of	reports	made	under	s.34(4)	
(report	to	Governor	–	judicial	officer)	or	(5)	
(report to Attorney-General – non-judicial 
VCAT member)

nil

Number	of	referrals	made	under	s.34(3)	
(referral to Head of Jurisdiction)

nil

*	Dismissed	under	s.16(3)(e)	of	the	Act	–	the	Officer	
concerned has resigned or retired and is no longer a judicial 
officer	or	non-judicial	member	of	VCAT

Other information

Number	of	mandatory	notifications	
of corrupt conduct made to the 
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission (IBAC)	under	s.25	(by	the	
Commission)	or	s.48	(by	an	Investigating	
Panel)

nil

Number	of	mandatory	notifications	
made to the Victorian Inspectorate under 
s.26	(by	the	Commission)	or	s.49	(by	an	
Investigating Panel)

nil

Number of vexatious complainant 
declarations made by the Commission 
under	s.140

nil

Protected disclosures

A copy of the procedures for Making and  
Handling Protected Disclosures established  
by the Commission can be accessed at  
www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au/complaints/
protected-disclosures.

Number and types of disclosures 
notified	to	IBAC	under	s.21(2),	Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012 (the Act)

nil

Number and types of protected disclosure 
complaints referred to the Commission 
by IBAC

nil

Number and types of protected 
disclosure complaints investigated by the 
Commission

nil

Number and types of protected disclosure 
complaints dismissed by the Commission

nil

Number of applications for an injunction 
in respect of detrimental action in reprisal 
for a protected disclosure made by the 
Commission	under	s.50	of	the	Act

nil

Grounds of dismissal 

The Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016 (the 
Act) prescribes a range of grounds upon which a 
complaint or referral must or may be dismissed. 
During	2018–2019,	nearly	31%	of	matters	
dismissed (including those complaints received 
in 2017–2018) were on the basis that it was not 
substantiated.	In	2018–2019,	29%	of	matters	
dismissed were on the grounds that the complaint 
related solely to the merits or lawfulness of a 
decision or procedural ruling. Some complaints 
are dismissed on multiple grounds.

DECISION MAKER OUTCOME
TOTAL 

COMPLAINTS
TOTAL 

PERCENTAGE

Commission s.16(4)(a) Complaint not substantiated 153 31%

Commission s.16(3)(b) Merits or lawfulness of decision 147 29%

Commission s.16(2)(b) Not	judicial	officer	or	VCAT	member 71 14%

Commission s.16(1)(b)(ii) Does not infringe standard of conduct expected 59 12%

Commission s.16(4)(c) Further	investigation	unnecessary	or	unjustified 40 8%

Commission s.16(1)(a) Could	warrant	removal	from	office 5 1%

Commission s.16(3)(e) Officer	resigned,	no	longer	in	office 5 1%

Commission s.16(4)(b) Too remote a time to justify investigation 5 1%

Commission s.16(1)(b)(i) Does not affect performance of functions 3 1%

Commission s.16(3)(c)(i) Relates to private life, does not affect performance 2 0%

Commission s.16(3)(c)(ii) Relates to private life, does not affect suitability 2 0%

Commission s.16(3)(d) Frivolous, vexatious, not in good faith 2 0%

Investigating 
Panel

s.35(3)(e) Officer	resigned,	no	longer	in	office 2 0%

Commission s.16(3)(a) Conduct before appointment 1 0%
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SECTION 4

People and  
workforce

Supreme Court 
of Victoria

9 March 2019, 3.20pm
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Comparative workforce data 

The	following	table	discloses	the	head	count	and	full	time	staff	equivalent	(FTE)	
of all active public service employees of the Commission that were employed in 
the last full pay period in June 2019 of the current reporting period.

Table	2:	Details	of	employment	levels	in	June	2019

30	JUNE	2018 30	JUNE	2019

ALL EMPLOYEES ONGOING FIXED TERM AND CASUAL ALL EMPLOYEES ONGOING FIXED TERM AND CASUAL

NUMBER 
(head count) FTE

FULL TIME
(head count)

PART TIME
(head count) FTE

NUMBER
(head count) FTE

NUMBER
(head count) FTE

FULL TIME
(head count)

PART TIME
(head count) FTE

NUMBER
(head count) FTE

DEMOGRAPHIC DATA DEMOGRAPHIC DATA

Gender Gender
Women 5 4.6 3 1 3.6 1 1 Women 5 4.4 3 2 4.4 0 0
Men 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 Men 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Self-described 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Self-described 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Age Age
Under	25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Under	25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
25-34 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 25-34 1 1 1 0 1 0 0
35-44 2 1.6 1 1 1.6 0 0 35-44 2 1.6 1 1 1.6 0 0
45-54 3 3 2 0 2 1 1 45-54 1 1 1 0 1 0 0
55-64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 55-64 1 0.8 0 1 0.8 0 0
Over	64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Over	64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CLASSIFICATION DATA CLASSIFICATION DATA

VPS 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 VPS 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
VPS 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 VPS 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
VPS 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 VPS 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
VPS	4 3 2.6 1 1 1.6 1 1 VPS	4 2 1.6 1 1 1.6 0 0
VPS	5 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 VPS	5 2 1.8 1 1 1.8 0 0
VPS 6 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 VPS 6 1 1 1 0 1 0 0
Total 5 4.6 3 1 3.6 1 1 Total 5 4.4 3 2 4.4 0 0
STS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 STS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Executive	Officer	1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Executive	Officer	1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Executive	Officer	2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Executive	Officer	2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Executive	Officer	3 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 Executive	Officer	3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total senior employees 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 Total senior employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total employees 6 5.6 4 1 4.6 1 1 Total employees 5 4.4 3 2 4.4 0 0

Staff at the Commission 
The	following	table	sets	out	the	head	count,	full	time	staff	equivalent	(FTE),	and	
level of all public service employees of the Commission:
Table	1

EFT VPS	LEVEL POSITIONS

1 EO3 Director
1 VPS6 Principal Lawyer
1.8 VPS5 Senior Lawyer
2.6 VPS4 Lawyer,	Operations	Manager	and	Complaints	Officer
1 VPS3 Operations	Support	Officer

44 Judicial Commission of Victoria Annual Report 2018–2019 45



Executive Officer data

The Commission’s inaugural Director resigned in 
April 2019 and the Principal Lawyer (VPS6) has 
been acting in this role since then. As at 30 June 
2019	there	were,	therefore,	no	Executive	Officers	at	
the Commission. An executive recruitment process 
is underway for the Director role. 

Employment values 
Work and conduct principles

The Commission is committed to applying merit 
and	equity	principles	when	appointing	staff	
members. These selection processes ensure that 
applicants are assessed and evaluated fairly and 
equitably	on	the	basis	of	the	key	selection	criteria	
and other accountabilities without discrimination. 
Employees	have	been	correctly	classified	in	
workforce data collections.

Workforce Inclusion Policy 

The Commission is working towards creating 
a	balanced	working	environment	where	equal	
opportunity and diversity are valued. The organisation 
values staff with non-binary gender identities at all 
levels	from	VPS	officers	through	to	Executive	level.

The Commission acknowledges that due to historic 
and current barriers to disclosure of non-binary 
gender identities, staff members may not choose 
to disclose this information. As a result, targets or 
quotas	are	not	currently	a	useful	way	to	promote	
opportunities for gender diverse staff at all levels. 

Occupational health and safety 
The goal of the Commission’s Occupational 
Health and Safety (OH&S) Strategy is to ensure all 
staff remain safe and healthy at work. An OH&S 
Management System has been implemented across 
the Commission. 

Each staff member at the Commission has been 
provided with a stand-up/adjustable desk and under 
desk	foot	stools.	Chairs	in	the	office	are	ergonomic	
and there are headsets available for staff members 
to	use	for	longer	phone	calls	and	conference	calls. 

The	office	space	is	kept	clean	and	tidy	and	OH&S	
requirements	for	walkways	have	been	met	to	ensure	
accessibility	and	safety	for	all	staff. 

Health and well-being 
A	significant	number	of	complainants	who	contact	the	
Commission	are	distressed,	exhibit	difficult	behaviour	
or disclose mental health conditions. This can 
sometimes negatively impact the well-being of staff. 

The Commission has implemented a number of 
measures to address this risk. The Commission holds 
weekly debrief sessions with all staff to offer support 
and advice. At these meetings staff members debrief 
and discuss challenging interactions. Staff members 
are encouraged to take a break after dealing with 
a	difficult	phone	call.	A	free	Employee	Assistance	
Scheme is also available to all staff.

Learning and development 
The Commission pays the membership fees of 
The Society of Consumers Affairs Professionals 
(SOCAP) for permanent staff. Staff members 
have undertaken a number of training courses 
for complaints handling professionals run by 
SOCAP. Staff	members	can	also	access	a	range	of	
learning and development opportunities provided 
through Court Services Victoria both online and 
face-to-face.

46 Judicial Commission of Victoria Annual Report 2018–2019 47



SECTION 5

Disclosures

Bourke St,  
Melbourne

13 April 2019, 
3.20pm
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Consultancy expenditure 
Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater) 

In 2018–2019, there were seven consultancies used by the Commission where 
the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. The total 
expenditure incurred during 2018–2019 in relation to these consultancies was 
$486,561.74	(excl.	GST)

Table	2:	Details	of	individual	consultancies	over	$10,000

PURPOSE OF 
CONSULTANCY START DATE END DATE

TOTAL 
APPROVED 

PROJECT FEE 
(EXCL. GST)

EXPENDITURE 
2018–2019 

(EXCL. GST)

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURE 

(EXCL. GST)

Legal advice about 
Investigating Panel 
matter

14/03/2018 26/07/2019 261,497.18 210,825.15 50,672.03

Legal advice to 
Investigating Panel as 
counsel assisting

19/10/2018 21/06/2019 155,000.00	 90,064.43 64,935.57

Legal advice about 
Investigating Panel 
matter

2/08/2018 1/10/2019 79,200.00 4,400.00 74,800.00

Legal advice about 
Investigating Panel 
matter

31/07/2018 1/10/2019 43,312.50 2,062.50 41,250.00

Media and 
communications 
advice

1/11/2018 14/06/2019 153,750.00	 55,125.00 98,625.00

Legal advice to 
Investigating Panel as 
solicitor assisting

29/05/2019 28/06/2019 58,305.09 58,305.02 Nil

Legal advice to 
Investigating Panel as 
solicitor assisting

31/07/2018 29/10/2018 183,606.00 32,754.86 150,851.14

Graphic design 24/07/2018 1/05/2019 19,024.78	 19,024.78 Nil

Legal advice on s.16 of 
the Act

5/11/2018 24/06/2019 14,000.00 14,000.00 Nil

Financial summary and review
Two-year financial summary 

The	budget	provides	a	comparison	of	the	financial	statements	for	the	
Commission	and	the	forecast	financial	information.

The	financial	summary	and	review	is	not	subject	to	audit	by	the	Victorian	Auditor	
General’s	Office	and	is	not	prepared	on	the	same	basis	as	the	Commission’s	
financial	statements.	

Refer	to	the	financial	statements	for	comparisons	of	budget	and	actual.	

Table	1:	Financial	summary

2018–2019 
$’000

2017–2018 
$’000

Revenue from government 2,307 1,422

Total income from transactions 2,307 1,422

Total expenses from transactions 2,098 1,236

Net	result	from	transactions	–	surplus	/	(deficit) 209 186

Net	result	for	the	period	–	surplus	/	(deficit) 208 213

Net	cash	flow	from	operating	activities 240 151

Total assets 865 768

Total liabilities 444 554
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Information and Communication Technology 
expenditure
Details of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) 
expenditure

For the 2018–2019 reporting period, the Commission had a total ICT expenditure 
of	$154,025.30	with	the	details	shown	below.

Table 4: Total ICT expenditure 

($ THOUSAND)

All operational ICT 
expenditure

ICT expenditure related to 
projects to create or enhance 
ICT capabilities

Business As Usual (BAU) ICT 
expenditure

Non-Business As Usual (Non-
BAU) ICT expenditure

Operational expenditure Capital 
expenditure

108,083.19

45,942

Total = Operational 
expenditure and capital 
expenditure

154,025.30

In this case ICT expenditure refers to the Commission’s costs in providing 
business-enabling ICT services within the current reporting period. It comprises 
BAU ICT expenditure and Non-BAU ICT expenditure. 

Non-BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing the Commission’s 
current ICT capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure 
which mainly relates to ongoing activities that operate and maintain the current 
ICT capability.

Details of consultancies under $10,000 

In	2018–2019,	there	were	five	consultancies	engaged	during	the	year,	where	the	
total	fees	payable	to	the	individual	consultancies	was	less	than	$10,000.	The total	
expenditure incurred during 2018–2019 in relation to these consultancies was 
$12,098.92 (excl. GST).

Table	3:	Details	of	individual	consultancies	under	$10,000

PURPOSE OF CONSULTANCY START DATE END DATE

TOTAL APPROVED 
PROJECT FEE 

(EXCL. GST)

EXPENDITURE 
2018–2019 

(EXCL. GST)

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURE 

(EXCL. GST)

Annual report 
compilation

24/07/2018 14/06/2019 9,956.58 4,778.29 5,178.29

Consulting services for 
complaint investigation

10/09/2018 24/05/2019 3,357.00 3,357.00 Nil

Legal advice on s.38 of 
the Act

29/10/2018 29/10/2018 1,818.18 1,818.18 Nil

Legal advice on 
nominations under the 
Act

7/12/2018 7/12/2018 1,545.45 1,545.45 Nil

Advice on Investigating 
Panel matter

9/07/2018 9/07/2018 600 600 Nil
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Making a request 

FOI	requests	can	be	lodged	online	at	https://online.
foi.vic.gov.au/.	An	application	fee	of	$28.40	applies	
and access charges may also apply if the document 
pool is large, and the search for material is time 
consuming. 

Access to documents can also be attained via a 
written	request	to	the	Commission’s	Freedom	of	
Information team, as seen in s.17 of the FOI Act. 

When	making	a	FOI	request,	applicants	must	request	
information in writing, and clearly identify what types 
of material/documents they are looking for. 

Requests for documents at the Commission go to:

Freedom of Information Team  
Judicial Commission of Victoria 
GPO	Box	4305 
Melbourne VIC 3001

Compliance with the Building Act 
1993 
The Commission does not own or control any 
government buildings and therefore is excused 
from notifying its compliance with the building and 
maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy Act 2003
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 
must be applied to all procurement activities valued 
at $3 million, or more, in metropolitan Melbourne 
and for state wide projects, or $1 million or more in 
regional Victoria.

The Commission did not commence or complete 
any such procurement activities in 2018–2019.

Compliance with the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 encourages 
and assists people in making disclosures of 
improper	conduct	by	public	officers	and	public	
bodies. The Act provides protection to people who 
make disclosures in accordance with the Act and 
establishes a system for the matters that need to be 
investigated	and	require	action	to	be	taken.	

The Commission can receive Protected Disclosures 
about	judicial	officers	and	non-judicial	members	of	
VCAT. The Commission has published Procedures 
for Making and Handling Protected Disclosures on its 
website.

The Commission does not accept improper 
conduct by employees. It is committed to ensuring 
transparency and accountability in its administrative 
and management practices and supports 
disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct 
involving a substantial mismanagement of public 
resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to 
public health and safety or the environment. 

The Commission will take reasonable steps to 
protect people who make such disclosures from any 
harmful action that could come from making such 
disclosures. It will also afford natural justice to the 
person who is the subject of the disclosure to the 
extent it is legally possible. 

Office-based environmental 
impacts 
Energy and water consumption

The	Commission	relocated	offices	in	late	April	2019,	
vacating	the	previously	shared	offices	which	it	had	
been sub-leasing from another state government 
entity. Water usage is not billed separately as it 
is included in the lease of the building. Electricity 
consumption is billed separately, however, because 
the	Commission	shared	its	offices	for	the	greater	
part	of	the	2018–2019	financial	year	and	has	
not received an electricity bill since relocating to 
its new premises, it cannot make a year-on-year 
comparison. 

Paper purchasing

Paper supplies are bought through the State 
Purchasing	Contract	with	Complete	Office	Supplies	
(COS).	The	paper	used	is	100%	Recycled	Bright	
White	Australian	(made	in	Victoria)	and	is	certified	
carbon neutral under the National Carbon Offset 
Standard (NCOS) Carbon Neutral Program.

Plants

There	are	planter	boxes	in	the	main	office	and	in	
individual	offices	which	staff	members	tend	to.

Transportation 

All staff use sustainable transport to get to and from 
work. The main mode is public transport – train and 
tram. Three staff members use active transport; two 
people walk and one cycles. Showers are available 
on site.

Waste generation

Waste is managed through a contract supplied by 
building management of the leased premises and it 
includes Comix/Recyclables. All paper is recycled.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (the FOI Act) 
allows the public a right to access documents held 
by the Commission. The purpose of the FOI Act is to 
give the community the right to access information 
held by government departments, local councils, 
Ministers and other bodies subject to the FOI Act. 

An applicant has a right to apply for access to 
documents held by the Commission. This includes 
documents created by the Commission or supplied 
to the Commission by an external organisation 
or	individual.	It	may	also	include	maps,	films,	
microfiche,	photographs,	computer	printouts,	
computer discs, tape recordings and videotapes. 

The FOI Act does not apply to a document to the 
extent to which the document discloses information 
that relates to a complaint, referral or investigation 
of the Commission.

Information on the type of material produced by the 
Commission is available on its website under the 
Part II Information Statement. 

The FOI Act allows the Commission to refuse 
access, either fully or partially, to certain documents 
or information. Examples of documents that may 
not be accessed include cabinet documents, some 
internal working documents, law enforcement 
documents, documents covered by legal 
professional privilege such as legal advice, personal 
information about other people and information 
provided	to	the	Commission	in-confidence.	

From 1 September 2017, the FOI Act was amended 
to	reduce	the	FOI	processing	time	for	requests	
received	from	45	to	30	days.	In	some	cases,	this	
time may be extended. 

If	an	applicant	is	not	satisfied	by	a	decision	made	
by	the	Commission,	under	s.49A	of	the	FOI	Act,	they	
have	the	right	to	ask	for	a	review	by	the	Office	of	the	
Victorian Information Commissioner (OVIC) within 
28 days of receiving a decision letter.
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Additional Commission information 
available on request 
In compliance with the Standing Directions of the 
Minister for Finance, the items listed below have 
been retained by the Commission and are available 
on	request,	subject	to	the	provisions	of	the	Freedom 
of Information Act 1982. 

a. A statement that declarations of pecuniary 
interests have been duly completed by all relevant 
Officers	of	the	Commission

b. Details	of	shares	held	by	a	senior	officer	as	
nominee	or	held	beneficially	in	a	statutory	
authority or subsidiary

c. Details of publications produced by the 
Commission about itself, and how these can be 
obtained

d. Details of assessments and measures undertaken 
to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees

e. A list of major Committees sponsored by the 
Commission, the purposes of each Committee 
and the extent to which the purposes have been 
achieved

f. Details of consultancies and contractors 
including:

i. Consultants/contractors engaged

ii. Services provided

iii. Expenditure committed to for each 
engagement.

The	information	is	available	on	request	from	the	
Commission.

Attestation for financial 
management compliance with 
Ministerial Standing Direction 5.1.4 
The Honourable Chief Justice Anne Ferguson, 
on	behalf	of	the	Board,	certifies	that	the	Judicial	
Commission of Victoria has complied with the 
applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for 
Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 
and Instructions. 

Mary Anne Ferguson 
The Honourable Chief Justice 
Chair of the Board 
Judicial Commission of Victoria

Melbourne 
25	October	2019

Compliance with DataVic Access 
Policy 
Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy issued by 
the Victorian Government in 2012, the Commission 
made zero data sets available on the DataVic 
website in 2018–2019. 

Information included in this annual report will also 
be available at www.judicialcommission.vic.gov.au 
in electronic readable format. 

Reporting procedures 

Disclosures of improper conduct by the Commission 
or any of its employees may be made to any of the 
following Commission personnel: 

• Director of the Commission

• Alternatively, allegations of corrupt conduct can 
be made directly to the: 
 
Independent Broad based Anti-corruption 
Commission (IBAC) 
Level	1,	North	Tower,	459	Collins	Street 
Melbourne, VIC 3000 
Phone:	1300	735	135 
Internet: www.ibac.vic.gov.au

Email: [see the website above for the secure 
email disclosure process, which also provides for 
anonymous disclosures.]

Further information 

The Protected Disclosure Policy and Procedures, 
which outline the system for reporting disclosures 
of improper conduct or detrimental action by the 
Commission	or	any	of	its	employees	or	Officers,	are	
available on the Commission’s website. 

Disclosures under the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012
The number of disclosures made by an individual to 
the	Commission	and	notified	to	IBAC.

2018–2019 No.

Assessable disclosures 0

Compliance with the Carers 
Recognition Act 2012 
The Commission complies with its obligations under 
the Carers Recognition Act 2012 (Vic) by ensuring all 
new employees are aware of their rights under the 
legislation. It also ensures that existing employees, 
who have carer responsibilities, are supported 
to balance work responsibilities and caring 
commitments in accordance with the Victorian 
Public Service Enterprise Agreement 2016.

The Commission also has people management 
policies that support the guiding principles of the 
Act, including those listed below.

• Employee Assistance Program

• Personal/Carer’s Leave Policy

• Flexible Working Arrangements Policy

• Respect in the Workplace Policy

• Hours of Work Policy

• Purchased Leave Policy
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SECTION 6

Financial  
statements

For the financial year ended 30 June 2019

County Court of Victoria
13	June	2019,	11.15am	
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COURT SERVICES VICTORIA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

How this report is structured
Judicial	Commission	of	Victoria	(JCV)	has	presented	its	audited	general	purpose	financial	
statements	for	the	financial	year	ended	30	June	2019	in	the	following	structure	to	provide	
users with the information about JCV’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.  

Declarations: Declaration	in	the	financial	statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

Financial statements: Comprehensive operating statement

Balance sheet

Cash	flow	statement

Statement	of	changes	in	equity

Notes	to	the	financial	
statements

1.	About	this	report

The	basis	on	which	the	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	
and compliance with reporting regulations

2. Funding delivery of our services

2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services

3. The cost of delivering services

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services

3.2 Supplies and services

4. Key assets available to support output delivery

4.1	Property,	plant	and	equipment

4.2	Intangible	assets

5. Other assets and liabilities

5.1	Receivables

5.2	Payables

6. Financing our operations

6.1	Cash	flow	information	and	balances

6.2 Commitments for expenditure

6.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

7. Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Judgements

7.1	Financial	instruments	specific	disclosures	

8.	Other	disclosures

8.1 Responsible persons

8.2 Key management personnel

8.3 Remuneration of executives

8.4	Remuneration	of	auditors

8.5	Other	accounting	policies

8.6	Subsequent	events

8.7 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet 
effective

9. Glossary of technical terms and style conventions

DECLARATION IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The	attached	financial	statements	for	the	Judicial	Commission	of	Victoria	have	been	
prepared	in	accordance	with	Direction	5.2	of	the	Standing	Directions	2018	under	the	Financial 
Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting 
Standards	including	interpretations,	and	other	mandatory	professional	reporting	requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive 
operating	statement,	balance	sheet,	cash	flow	statement,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	
and	accompanying	notes,	presents	fairly	the	financial	transactions	during	the	year	ended	
30 June 2019	and	financial	position	of	the	Judicial	Commission	of	Victoria	at	30	June	2019.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars 
included	in	the	financial	statements	to	be	misleading	or	inaccurate.

We	authorise	the	attached	financial	statements	for	issue	on	25	October	2019.

Mary Anne Ferguson 
The Honourable Chief Justice 
Chair of the Board 
Judicial Commission of Victoria

Melbourne 
25	October	2019

Jacqueline Harrop 
Acting Director 
Judicial Commission of Victoria 

Melbourne 
25	October	2019

Salvatore Costanzo 
Chief	Finance	Officer 
Judicial Commission of Victoria 

Melbourne 
25	October	2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Judicial Commission of Victoria 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Judicial Commission of Victoria (the commission) 
which comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2019 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• board member, accountable officer and chief finance and accounting officer's 

declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the commission as at 30 June 2019 and their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of 
Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the commission in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board of the commission is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the commission’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

 

2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the commission’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
commission to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
28 October 2019 

Charlotte Jeffries 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Comprehensive operating statement 
For the Financial Year ended 30 June 2019

NOTE
2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Continuing operations

Income from transactions

Special appropriations 2.1 46 0

Grants 2.1 2,261 1,422

Total income from transactions 2,307 1,422

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3.1.1 952 825

Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.1 83 35

Supplies and services 3.2 1,063 375

Total expenses from transactions 2,098 1,236

Net	result	from	transactions	(net	operating	
balance)

209 186	

Other	economic	flows	included	in	net	result

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long 
service liability

(1) 27

Total	other	economic	flows	included	in	net	result (1) 27

Net result 208 213

Comprehensive result 208 213

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.

Balance Sheet 
As at 30 June 2019

NOTE
2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 6.1 240 0

Receivables 5.1 273 332

Total	financial	assets 512 332

Non-financial	assets

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 4.1 208 252

Intangible assets 4.2 145 184

Total	non-financial	assets 353 436

Total assets 865 768

Liabilities

Payables 5.2 359 442

Provisions 3.1.2 85 112

Total liabilities 444 554

Net assets 421 213

Equity

Accumulated	surplus/(deficit) 421	 213

Net worth 421 213

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.
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Cash flow statement 
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019

NOTE
2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Receipts

Receipts from Government 2,047	 1,090 

Total receipts 2,047 1,090	

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,807) (939)

Total payments (1,807) (939)

Net	cash	flows	from/(used	in)	operating	activities 6.1.1 240 151	

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities

Purchases	of	non-financial	assets 0 (471)

Proceeds	from	sales	of	non-financial	assets	 0 0 

Net	cash	flows	from/(used	in)	investing	activities 0 (471)

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

Advance from Court Services Victoria 0 320 

Net	cash	provided	by/(used	in)	financing	
activities

0 320 

Net	increase	(decrease)	in	cash	held 240 0 

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	
financial	year

0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial	year

240 0 

The	accompanying	notes	form	part	of	these	financial	statements.

Statement of changes in equity 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2019

2019 
$’000 NOTE

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT) 
$’000

TOTAL 
$’000

Balance	as	at	1	July	2018 213	 213	

Net result for the year 208 208	

Balance	at	30	June	2019 421	 421	

2018 
$’000 NOTE

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT) 
$’000

TOTAL 
$’000

Balance	as	at	1	July	2017 0 0 

Net result for the year 213 213	

Balance	at	30	June	2018 213	 213	

The	statement	of	changes	in	equity	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	notes	
to	the	financial	statements.
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1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Judicial Commission of Victoria (JCV) was 
established on 1 July 2017 under the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria Act 2016 as an independent 
body to investigate complaints about judicial 
officers	and	non-judicial	members	of	the	Victorian	
Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT). 

JCV’s	activities	and	governance	are	defined	within	
the Judicial Commission of Victoria Act 2016. JCV’s 
activities include investigating complaints about 
judicial	officers	and	non-judicial	members	of	VCAT.	

JCV’s	principal	address	is	GPO	Box	4305,	
Melbourne, VIC 3000.

The	financial	report	has	been	prepared	on	a	going	
concern basis. JCV receives grant income from 
appropriations received by Court Services Victoria. 
JCV’s	grant	income	budget	for	the	2019-20	financial	
year	of	$1.4	million	approved	by	the	Attorney-
General on 26 June 2019 enables JCV to incur 
expenditures and liabilities. In addition, the Treasurer 
on 9 October 2019 approved a Treasurer’s Advance 
of $1.7 million to fund extra resources to meet 
expected increases in the volume and complexity of 
investigations as well as increased costs associated 
with the relocation of premises during 2018-19 due 
to	the	expansion	of	the	co‐tenant.	The	approvals	of	
the grant income budget and Treasurer’s Advance 
ensure	there	is	adequate	cash	flow	support	
to enable JCV to meet its current and future 
operational obligations as and when they fall due.

Basis of preparation

These	financial	statements	are	in	Australian	dollars	
and the historical cost convention is used unless 
a	different	measurement	basis	is	specifically	
disclosed in the note associated with the item 
measured on a different basis. 

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied 
in	the	preparation	of	these	financial	statements	
whereby	assets,	liabilities,	equity,	income	and	
expenses are recognised in the reporting period 
to which they relate, regardless of when cash is 
received or paid.

Consistent	with	the	requirements	of	Australian	
Accounting	Standard	AASB	1004	Contributions,	
contributions by owners (that is contributed 
capital	and	its	repayment)	are	treated	as	equity	
transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the 
income and expenses of JCV.

Additions to net assets that have been designated 
as contributions by owners are recognised as 
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the 

nature of contributions to or distributions by owners 
have also been designated as contributions by 
owner.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative 
restructurings are treated as distributions to or 
contributions by owners. Transfers of net liabilities 
arising from administrative restructurings are 
treated as distributions to owners. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are 
required	to	be	made	about	financial	information	
being	presented.	Significant	judgements	made	in	
the	preparation	of	these	financial	statements	are	
disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by 
those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional 
judgement derived from historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
also in future periods that are affected by the 
revision. Judgements and assumptions made by 
management in applying Australian Accounting 
Standards	(AAS)	that	have	significant	effects	on	the	
financial	statements	and	estimates	are	disclosed	in	
the	notes	under	the	heading	‘Significant	judgement	
or estimates’.

These	financial	statements	cover	JCV	as	an	
individual reporting entity and include all the 
controlled activities of JCV.

All	amounts	in	the	financial	statements	have	been	
rounded to the nearest $1,000 unless otherwise stated.

Compliance information

These	general	purpose	financial	statements	have	
been prepared in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable AAS, 
which include Interpretations issued by the AASB. In 
particular, they are presented in a manner consistent 
with	the	requirements	of	AASB 1049	Whole	of	
Government and General Government Sector 
Financial Reporting.

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs 
applicable	to	not-for-profit	entities	have	been	
applied. Accounting policies selected and applied in 
these	financial	statements	ensure	that	the	resulting	
financial	information	satisfies	the	concepts	of	
relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the 
substance of the underlying transactions or other 
events is reported.

2. FUNDING DELIVERY OF OUR SERVICES

Introduction
JCV is an independent body established by legislation to investigate complaints 
about	judicial	officers	and	non-judicial	members	of	the	Victorian	Civil	and	
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT).

Structure
2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Special appropriations 46 0

Grants 2,261 1,422

Total income from transactions 2,307 1,422

Income	is	recognised	to	the	extent	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	
will	flow	to	JCV	and	the	income	can	be	reliably	measured	at	fair	value.	Where	
applicable, amounts disclosed as income are net of returns, allowances, duties 
and taxes.

Appropriations
Special appropriations: Income from special appropiations is recognised on a 
cash basis when the amount appropriated for that purpose is due and payable, 
with the exception of long service leave and annual leave which includes income 
for unpaid leave on an accrual basis.

Grant Income 

The JCV is funded for the provision of outputs consistent with its statutory 
function by accrual-based grants derived from monies appropriated annually by 
Parliament through Court Services Victoria (CSV).
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3. THE COST OF DELIVERING SERVICES

Introduction
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by JCV in delivering 
the services and outputs it received income for, as outlined in section 2.

Structure 
3.1 Expenses	incurred	in	delivery	of	services	 	  
3.2 Supplies	and	services	

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services    
 

NOTES
2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Employee	benefit	expenses 3.1.1 952 825

Grants and other transfers 0 0

Capital asset charge 0 0

Supplies and services 3.2 1,063 375

Total expenses incurred in delivery of services 2,015 1,200

3.1.1	Employee	benefit	expenses	in	the	comprehensive	operating	statement

Defined	contribution	superannuation	expense	 3.1.3 72 65

Salaries and wages 687 640

Leave expenses (annual leave and long service leave) 123 59

Other	on-costs	(fringe	benefits	tax,	payroll	tax,	training	and	workcover	levy) 70 61

Total employee expenses 952 825

Employee expenses encompasses all costs related to employment, including 
wages	and	salaries,	fringe	benefits	tax,	leave	entitlements,	termination	payments	
and WorkCover premiums. 

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to 
superannuation	is	employer	contributions	for	members	of	defined	contribution	
superannuation plans that are paid or payable during the reporting period. 

3.1.2 Employee	benefits	in	the	balance	sheet	

Provision	is	made	for	benefits	accruing	to	employees	in	respect	of	wages	and	salaries,	annual	leave	and	long	
service leave for services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the 
services are delivered. 

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Current provisions:

Annual leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (21) (24)

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 0 (3)

Long	service	leave

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (35) (43)

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 0 0

Provisions for on-costs

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months (12) (13)

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 0 (1)

Total	current	provisions	for	employee	benefits (69) (84)

Non-current provisions

Employee	benefits (14) (24)

On-costs (2) (4)

Total	non-current	provisions	for	employee	benefits (16) (28)

Total	provisions	for	employee	benefits (85) (112)
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Reconciliation of movement in on-cost provision

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Opening balance (18) 0

Additional provisions recognised 19 (18)

Reductions	arising	from	payments/other	sacrifices	of	future	economic	benefit (15) 0

Closing balance (14) (18)

Current (12) (14)

Non-current (2) (4)

Total (14) (18)

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave: Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary 
benefits,	annual	leave	and	on-costs)	are	recognised	as	part	of	the	employee	benefit	provision	as	current	
liabilities, because JCV does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities. 

The liability for salaries and wages are recognised in the balance sheet at remuneration rates that are current 
at the reporting date. As JCV expects the liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, 
they are measured at undiscounted amounts.

The	annual	leave	liability	is	classified	as	a	current	liability	and	measured	at	the	undiscounted	amount	
expected to be paid, as JVC does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered probable 
that	the	average	sick	leave	taken	in	the	future	will	be	greater	than	the	benefits	accrued	in	the	future.	As	sick	
leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it is taken.

Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are not employee 
benefits.	They	are	disclosed	separately	as	a	component	of	the	provision	for	employee	benefits	when	the	
employment to which they relate has occurred.

Unconditional long service leave is disclosed as a current liability even where JCV does not expect to 
settle the liability within 12 months, as it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of the current long service leave liability are measured at:

• undiscounted value – if JCV expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• present value – if JCV does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer 
the	settlement	of	the	entitlement	until	the	employee	has	completed	the	requisite	years	of	service.	This	non-
current long service leave liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current long service leave liability is 
recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest 
rates	for	which	it	is	then	recognised	as	an	‘other	economic	flow’	in	the	net	result.	

3.1.3 Superannuation	contributions	

Employees	of	JCV	are	entitled	to	receive	superannuation	benefits	and	JCV	contributes	to	defined	
contribution plans. 

PAID CONTRIBUTION 
 FOR THE YEAR

CONTRIBUTION OUTSTANDING 
 AT YEAR END

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Defined	contribution	plans:

VicSuper 22 19 0 0

Various other 50 46 1 1

Total 72 64 1 1

3.2 Supplies and services

NOTE
2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Accommodation and property services 196 125

Contractors, professional services and consultants 292 91

Costs incurred in carrying out investigations 3.2.1 420 66

Printing,	stationery	and	other	office	expenses 28 25

Technology services 86 27

Repairs and maintenance 5 0

Other 36 41

Total supplies and services 1,063 375

Supplies and services expenses generally represent day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.  

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

3.2.1	Investigating	panel	expenditure

A liability for investigating panel expenditure is recognised when a present obligation for such expenditure 
has been incurred as a result of services provided prior to balance date relating to a complaint or referral 
being	referred	to	an	Investigation	Panel,	it	is	likely	that	there	will	be	a	consequent	outflow	of	economic	
benefits	and	the	amount	of	the	obligation	can	be	measured	reliably.	The	liability	for	investigating	panel	
expenditure at 30 June 2019 is $0.020m (2018: $nil).
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4. KEY ASSETS AVAILABLE TO SUPPORT OUTPUT DELIVERY

Introduction
JCV	controls	non-financial	assets	that	are	utilised	in	fulfilling	its	objectives	and	conducting	activities.	These	
non-financial	assets	represent	the	key	resources	that	have	been	entrusted	to	JCV	to	be	utilised	for	delivery	
of its outputs.

Structure
4.1 Property,	plant	and	equipment 
4.2 Intangible assets 

4.1 Property, plant and equipment

GROSS 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

NET 
CARRYING 
AMOUNT

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Leasehold 
improvements at fair 
value

238 238 (59) (20) 178 218

Plant	and	equipment	at	
fair value

36 36 (6) (2) 29 34

Total property, plant 
and equipment

274 274 (66) (22) 208 252

Initial recognition:	Items	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	are	measured	initially	at	cost	and	subsequently	
revalued	at	fair	value	less	accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment.	Where	an	asset	is	acquired	for	no	or	
nominal	cost,	a	fair	value	is	determined	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	

The	cost	of	constructed	non-financial	physical	assets	includes	the	cost	of	all	materials	used	in	construction,	
direct	labour	on	the	project	and	an	appropriate	proportion	of	variable	and	fixed	overheads.

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of 
the lease or its estimated useful lives.

Subsequent measurement:	Property,	plant	and	equipment	are	subsequently	measured	at	fair	value	less	
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and 
best use (considering legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset and public announcements or 
commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset). This net carrying amount of property, plant 
and	equipment	is	considered	a	reasonable	approximation	of	it’s	fair	value.

4.1.1 Depreciation

Charge for the period

NOTE
2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Leasehold improvements at fair value 40 20

Plant	and	equipment	at	fair	value	 4 2

Software 4.2 39 13

Total property, plant and equipment 83 35

All	property,	plant	and	equipment	that	have	finite	useful	lives,	are	depreciated.	

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any 
estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset 
classes for current and prior years are included in the table below: 

Asset Useful life years

Leasehold improvements 6

Plant	and	equipment 5	to	10

Computer	and	telecommunication	equipment 1 to 10

Intangible assets 5

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

In	the	event	of	the	loss	or	destruction	of	an	asset,	the	future	economic	benefits	arising	from	the	use	of	the	
asset	will	be	replaced	(unless	a	specific	decision	to	the	contrary	has	been	made).

Impairment:	Non-financial	assets,	including	items	of	property,	plant	and	equipment,	are	tested	for	
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 

The assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where 
an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written off as an ‘other economic 
flow’,	except	to	the	extent	that	it	can	be	debited	to	an	asset	revaluation	surplus	amount	applicable	to	that	
class of asset. 

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased 
to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised 
in prior years. 

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and 
fair	value	less	costs	to	sell.	Recoverable	amount	for	assets	held	primarily	to	generate	net	cash	inflows	is	
measured	at	the	higher	of	the	present	value	of	future	cash	flows	expected	to	be	obtained	from	the	asset	and	
fair value less costs to sell.
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4.1.2 Reconciliation	of	movements	in	carrying	values	of	property,	plant	and	equipment

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS 
AT FAIR VALUE

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT AT 
FAIR VALUE TOTAL

2019  $’000  $’000  $’000

Opening balance 218 34 252 

Additions 0 0 0 

Depreciation (40) (4) (44)

178 29 208

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS 
AT FAIR VALUE

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT AT 
FAIR VALUE TOTAL

2018  $’000  $’000  $’000

Opening balance 0 0 0

Additions 238 36 274

Depreciation (20) (2) (22)

Closing balance 218 34 252

4.2 Intangible assets

COMPUTER 
SOFTWARE

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Gross carrying amount 

Opening balance 197 0

Additions 0 197

Gross	value	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year 197 197

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment

Opening balance (13) 0

Depreciation (39) (13)

Closing balance (53) (13)

Net	book	value	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year 145 184

Notes: 

(i)  The consumption of intangible produced assets is included in ‘depreciation’ line item on the comprehensive operating 
statement. Refer Note 4.1.1

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. When the recognition criteria in AASB 138 
Intangible	Assets	is	met,	internally	generated	intangible	assets	are	recognised	at	cost.	Subsequently,	
intangible	assets	with	finite	useful	lives	are	carried	at	cost	less	accumulated	amortisation	and	accumulated	
impairment losses. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

JCV does not have any "Intangible Non-Produced Assets". 

Impairment of intangible assets  

Intangible	assets	with	finite	useful	lives	are	tested	for	impairment	whenever	an	indication	of	impairment	is	
identified.	Intangible	assets	not	yet	available	for	use	are	tested	annually	for	impairment	and	whenever	there	
is	an	indication	that	the	asset	may	be	impaired.	JCV	has	no	intangible	assets	with	indefinite	useful	lives.

The	policy	in	connection	with	testing	for	impairment	is	outlined	in	section	4.1.1.
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5. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Introduction 
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from JCV’s controlled operations.

Structure 
5.1 Receivables	 
5.2 Payables

5.1 Receivables

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Current receivables

Statutory

Amounts owing from Victorian Government 273 332 

273 332 

Total receivables 273 332 

Represented by:

Current receivables 273 332

Non-current receivables

Statutory receivables do not arise from contracts and are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 
attributable	transaction	costs.	Subsequent	to	initial	measurement	they	are	measured	at	amortised	cost	
using	the	effective	interest	method,	less	any	impairment,	but	are	not	classified	as	financial	instruments.	
Amounts owing from the Victorian Government represent funding for all commitments incurred and are 
drawn from the Consolidated Fund as the commitments fall due.

5.2 Payables

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Current Payables

Contractual

Trade creditors and other payables 343 106 

Salaries and wages 16 16 

359 122 

Statutory

Amounts payable to Court Services Victoria 0 320 

0 320 

Total payables 359 442 

Represented by:

Current payables 359 442

Payables consist of:

•  contractual payables,	classified	as	financial	instruments	and	measured	at	amortised	cost.	Accounts	
payable	represent	liabilities	for	goods	and	services	provided	to	JCV	prior	to	the	end	of	the	financial	year	
that are unpaid; and 

• statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not 
classified	as	financial	instruments	and	not	included	in	the	category	of	financial	liabilities	at	amortised	
cost, because they do not arise from contracts. 

Contractual payables have an average maturity of 30 days. 

The terms and conditions of amounts payable to the government and agencies vary according to the 
particular	agreements	and	as	they	are	not	legislative	payables,	they	are	not	classified	as	financial	
instruments.
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6. FINANCING OUR OPERATIONS

Introduction
This	section	provides	information	on	the	sources	of	finance	utilised	by	JCV	during	its	operations	and	other	
information	related	to	the	financing	of	activities.

Structure  
6.1 Cash	flow	information	and	balances	 	 	 	  
6.2 Commitments	for	expenditure	 	 	 	  
6.3 Contingent	assets	and	contingent	liabilities

6.1 Cash flow information and balances  

Cash	and	deposits,	including	cash	equivalents,	comprise	cash	on	hand	and	cash	at	bank	that	are	held	for	
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments, rather than for investment purposes, and which are 
readily	convertible	to	known	amounts	of	cash	and	are	subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	changes	in	value.	

Due to the State’s investment policy and funding arrangements, JCV does not hold a bank account in its 
name and uses CSV’s bank account. Cash received from generation of income is generally paid into the 
State’s	bank	account	(‘public	account’).	Similarly,	JCV	expenditure,	including	in	the	form	of	cheques	drawn	
for the payments to its suppliers and creditors, is made via the public account. The public account remits to 
CSV	the	cash	required	upon	presentation	of	cheques	by	JCV’s	suppliers	or	creditors.	

These	funding	arrangements	may	result	in	JCV	having	a	notional	shortfall	in	the	cash	required,	and	any	
monies owed to JCV, are recieved via CSV through the State Administered Unit (SAU) debtors account. 
Amounts	receivable	at	balance	date	are	shown	in	note	5.1.	

For	cash	flow	statement	presentation	purposes,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	the	cash	balance	and	
funds	held	in	trust,	$0.24	million	(2018	$nil).

6.1.1 Reconciliation	of	net	result	for	the	period	to	cash	flow	from	operating	activities

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Net result for the period 208 213

Non-cash movements:

(Gain)/loss on sale or disposal of non-current assets 0 0

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 83 35

Allowance for doubtful debts and bad debts 0 0

Resources free of charge 0 0

Movements in net assets and liabilities

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 59 (332)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 0 0

Increase/(decrease) in payables (83) 122

Increase/(decrease) in provisions (27) 112

Net	cash	from/(used	in)	operating	activities 240 151	

6.2 Commitments for expenditure     

Commitments for future expenditure include operating commitments arising from contracts. These 
commitments are recorded below at their nominal value and inclusive of GST. These future expenditures 
cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.

6.2.1 Total	commitments	payable

Nominal	Amounts:	2019

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR 
$’000

BETWEEN 1 
AND 5 YEARS 
$’000

OVER 5 YEARS 
$’000

TOTAL 
$’000

Accommodation lease commitments payable 248 996 0 1,244

Operating commitments payable 22 14 0 36

Total	commitments	(inclusive	of	GST) 270 1,010 0 1,280

Less GST recoverable 25 92 0 116

Total	commitments	(exclusive	of	GST) 245 918 0 1,164

Nominal	Amounts:	2018

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR 
$’000

BETWEEN 1 AND 
5 YEARS 
$’000

OVER 5 YEARS 
$’000

TOTAL 
$’000

Accommodation lease commitments payable 124 0 0 124

Operating commitments payable 28 36 0 63

Total	commitments	(inclusive	of	GST) 152 36 0 188

Less GST recoverable 14 3 0 17

Total	commitments	(exclusive	of	GST) 138 33 0 171
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6.3 Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities     

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed 
and,	if	quantifiable,	are	measured	at	nominal	value.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented 
inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively. 

Contingent assets 

Contingent assets are possible assets that 
arise from past events, whose existence will be 
confirmed	only	by	the	occurrence	or	non-occurrence	
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the entity.

These	are	classified	as	either	quantifiable,	where	
the	potential	economic	benefit	is	known,	or	non-
quantifiable.	There	are	no	contingent	assets	to	be	
reported or disclosed.

Contingent liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are: 

• possible obligations that arise from past events, 
the	existence	of	which	will	be	confirmed	only	by	
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the entity; or

• present obligations that arise from past events 
but are not recognised because:

 − 	it	is	not	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	
embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required	
to settle the obligations; or 

 −  the amount of the obligations cannot be 
measured	with	sufficient	reliability.

Contingent	liabilities	are	also	classified	as	either	
quantifiable	or	non-quantifiable.	There	are	no	non-
quantifiable	contingent	liabilities	to	be	reported	or	
disclosed.

At	30	June	2019	JCV’s	quantifiable	contingent	
liability is a "make good" obligation under a lease 
of premises. This obligation comprises the repair 
of any damage (other than damage attributed to 
fair wear and tear) and the removal of any chattels 
and other loose items from the tenancy. These 
obligation	will	only	be	confirmed	on	termination	of	
the lease and following negotiations with the lessor. 
The	quantified	contingent	liability	of	$0.093	million	
(2018: $nil) is the estimated maximum amount JCV 
might incur in meeting this obligation.   
  

7. RISKS, CONTINGENCIES AND VALUATION JUDGEMENTS

Introduction 
JCV is exposed to risk from its activities and 
outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary 
to make judgements and estimates associated 
with recognition and measurement of items in the 
financial	statements.	This	section	sets	out	financial	
instrument	specific	information	(including	exposures	
to	financial	risks),	as	well	as	those	items	that	are	
contingent	in	nature	or	require	a	higher	level	of	
judgement to be applied, which for JCV relate mainly 
to fair value determination. 

Structure 
7.1	Financial	instruments	specific	disclosures	

7.1 Financial instruments specific 
disclosures 

Introduction 

Financial instruments arise out of contractual 
agreements	that	give	rise	to	a	financial	asset	of	one	
entity	and	a	financial	liability	or	equity	instrument	of	
another entity. 

From 1 July 2018, JCV applies AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments	and	classifies	all	of	its	financial	assets	
based on its business model for managing the 
assets and the asset’s contractual terms. Prior 
to that date JCV applied AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments; Recognition and Measurement. 

Categories of financial assets under AASB 9

AASB	9	requires	JCV	to	classify	financial	assets	as	
subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost,	fair	value	
through other comprehensive income or fair value 
through	profit	or	loss	on	the	basis	of	both	business	
model	for	managing	the	financial	assets	and	the	
contractual	cash	flow	characteristics	of	the	financial	
assets. 

JCV	has	no	financial	assets	classified	as	“at	fair	
value	through	other	comprehensive	income”	or	“at	
fair	value	through	profit	or	loss”.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if 
both of the following criteria are met and the assets 
are not designated as fair value through net result:

• the assets are held by JCV to collect the 
contractual	cash	flows,	and	

• the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash 
flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	principal	and	
interest. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	
effective interest method less any impairment. 

JCV recognises the following assets in this 
category: 

• cash and deposits; and 

• receivables (excluding statutory receivables). 

Categories of financial assets previously 
under AASB 139 

AASB	139	requires	JVC	to	classify	financial	assets	
as	loans	and	receivables,	available	for	sale	financial	
instrument assets, held to maturity investments or 
at	fair	value	through	profit	and	loss.

JCV	has	no	financial	assets	classified	as	“available	
for	sale	financial	assets”	or	“held	to	maturity	
investments”	or	“at	fair	value	through	profit	and	
loss”. 

Loans and receivables

Loans	and	receivables	and	cash	are	financial	
instrument	assets	with	fixed	and	determinable	
payments	that	are	not	quoted	on	an	active	market.	
These assets and liabilities are initially recognised 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs.	Subsequent	to	initial	measurement,	loans	
and receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method (and for assets, 
less any impairment). JCV recognises the following 
assets in this category: 

• cash and deposits; and 

• receivables (excluding statutory receivables). 

•  
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Categories of financial liabilities under AASB 
9 and previously under AASB 139 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially 
recognised on the date they are originated. They 
are initially measured at fair value plus any directly 
attributable	transaction	costs.	Subsequent	to	
initial	recognition,	these	financial	instruments	are	
measured at amortised cost with any difference 
between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption	value	being	recognised	in	profit	and	loss	
over the period of the interest bearing liability, using 
the effective interest rate method. JCV recognises 
payables in this category: 

• payables (excluding statutory payables).

Financial liabilities at fair value

Financial liabilities are categorised at fair value 
through net result if they are designated as such 
upon initial recognition. Financial liabilities at fair 
value through net result are initially measured at fair 
value; attributable transaction costs are expensed as 
incurred.	Subsequently,	any	changes	in	fair	value	are	
recognised	in	the	net	result	as	other	economic	flows	
unless the changes in fair value relate to changes in 
JCV’s own credit risk. In this case, the portion of the 
change attributable to changes in JCV’s own credit 
risk is recognised in other comprehensive income 
with	no	subsequent	recycling	to	net	result	when	the	
financial	liability	is	derecognised.	

Derecognition of financial assets

A	financial	asset	(or,	where	applicable,	a	part	of	a	
financial	asset	or	part	of	a	group	of	similar	financial	
assets) is derecognised when: 

• the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	
have expired; or

• JCV	retains	the	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	
the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay 
them in full without material delay to a third party 
under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

• JCV has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows	from	the	asset	and	either:	

• has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset; or

• has neither transferred nor retained substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. 

Where JCV has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred 
control, the asset is recognised to the extent of 
JCV’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A	financial	liability	is	derecognised	when	the	
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires. 

When	an	existing	financial	liability	is	replaced	by	
another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are	substantially	modified,	such	an	exchange	or	
modification	is	treated	as	a	derecognition	of	the	
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is	recognised	as	an	‘other	economic	flow’	in	the	
comprehensive operating statement. 

Reclassification of financial instruments

Subsequent	to	initial	recognition	reclassification	
of	financial	liabilities	is	not	permitted.	Financial	
assets	are	required	to	be	reclassified	between	fair	
value through net result, fair value through other 
comprehensive income and amortised cost when 
and only when JCV’s business model for managing 
its	financial	assets	has	changes	such	that	its	
previous model would no longer apply. 

However, JCV is generally unable to change its 
business model because it is determined by the 
Performance Management Framework (PMF) and all 
Victorian	government	departments	are	required	to	
apply the PMF under the Standing Directions of the 
Assistant Treasurer 2018. 

If	under	rare	circumstances	an	asset	is	reclassified,	
the	reclassification	is	applied	prospectively	from	
the	reclassification	date	and	previously	recognised	
gains, losses or interest should not be restated. 
If	the	asset	is	reclassified	to	fair	value,	the	fair	
value	should	be	determined	at	the	reclassification	
date and any gain or loss arising from a difference 
between the previous carrying amount and fair value 
is recognised in net result. 

7.1.1 Financial	instruments:	Categorisation

CATEGORY
2019 
($’000)

2018 
($’000)

Contractual	financial	assets

Cash and deposits/(overdrawn)
Cash and deposits

0 0 

Funds held in Trust 240 0

Total contractual cash and deposits 240 0

Receivable 

Other receivables Financial assets at amortised cost 0 0

Total	contractual	financial	assets	 240 0

Contractual	financial	liabilities

Payable:

Financial liabilities at amortised costTrade creditors and other payables 343 106

Salary and wages 16 16

Total	contractual	financial	liabilities 359 122
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7.1.2	Financial	risk	management	objectives	and	
policies

Financial risks

Credit risk Liquidity	risk

As	a	whole,	JCV’s	financial	risk	management	
program seeks to manage these risks and the 
associated	volatility	of	its	financial	performance.

Details	of	the	significant	accounting	policies	
and methods adopted, including the criteria 
for recognition, the basis of measurement, and 
the basis on which income and expenses are 
recognised,	with	respect	to	each	class	of	financial	
asset,	financial	liability	and	equity	instrument	are	
disclosed in note 7.1 above.

The	main	purpose	in	holding	financial	instruments	is	
to	prudentially	manage	JCV’s	financial	risks	within	
the government policy parameters.

JCV	main	financial	risks	include	credit	risk	and	
liquidity	risk.	JCV	manages	these	financial	risks	
in	accordance	with	its	financial	risk	management	
policy.

JCV uses different methods to measure and manage 
the different risks to which it is exposed. Primary 
responsibility	for	the	identification	and	management	
of	financial	risks	rests	with	JCV’s	Board.	The	Board	
is	supported	by	the	JCV	Accountable	Officer	and	
Chief	Finance	Officer	for	financial	risk	management	
reporting. 

Financial instruments: Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a debtor 
will	default	on	its	financial	obligations	as	and	when	
they fall due. JCV’s exposure to credit risk arises 
from the potential default of a counter party on their 
contractual	obligations	resulting	in	financial	loss	
to JCV. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is 
monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with JCV’s contractual 
financial	assets	is	minimal	as	its	main	debtor	is	the	
Victorian Government. For debtors other than the 
Government, JCV monitors outstanding debtors on a 
monthly basis. 

In addition, JCV does not engage in hedging for 
its	contractual	financial	assets	and	mainly	obtains	
contractual	financial	assets	that	are	on	fixed	
interest, except for cash and deposits, which are 
mainly cash at bank. 

Provision	of	impairment	for	contractual	financial	
assets is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that JCV will not be able to collect a 
receivable.	Objective	evidence	includes	financial	
difficulties	of	the	debtor,	default	payments,	debts	
that are more than 60 days overdue, and changes 
in debtor credit ratings. At 30 June 2019 JCV’s 
contractual	financial	assets	are	neither	past	due	nor	
impaired.

Contract	financial	assets	are	written	off	against	
the carrying amount when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. Bad debt written off by 
mutual	consent	is	classified	as	a	transaction	
expense. Bad debt written off following a unilateral 
decision	is	recognised	as	other	economic	flows	in	
the net result.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, 
the	carrying	amount	of	contractual	financial	assets	
recorded	in	the	financial	statements,	net	of	any	
allowances for losses, represents JCV’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk without taking account of the 
value of any collateral obtained.

There has been no material change to JCV’s credit 
risk	profile	in	2018-19.

Credit quality of financial assets

($ THOUSAND)

2019
FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTION

GOVERNMENT 
AGENCIES

GOVERNMENT 
AGENCIES OTHER TOTAL

(TRIPLE-A 
CREDIT 
RATING)

(TRIPLE-A 
CREDIT 
RATING)

(TRIPLE-B 
CREDIT 
RATING) 

(MIN TRIPLE-B 
CREDIT 
RATING)

Financial assets     

Financial assets with loss 
allowance	measured	at	12-month	
expected credit loss

Cash and deposits (not assessed 
for impairment due to materiality)

0 240 0 0 240

Statutory receivables (with no 
impairment loss recognised)

0 273 0 0 273

Financial assets with loss 
allowance measured at lifetime 
expected credit loss:

..

Contractual receivables applying 
the simplified approach for 
impairment

0 0 0 0 0

Total financial assets 0 512 0 0 512

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

2018
FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTION

GOVERNMENT 
AGENCIES

GOVERNMENT 
AGENCIES OTHER TOTAL

(TRIPLE-A 
CREDIT 
RATING)

(TRIPLE-A 
CREDIT 
RATING)

(TRIPLE-B 
CREDIT 
RATING) 

(MIN TRIPLE-B 
CREDIT 
RATING)

Financial assets      

Cash and deposits 0 0 0 0 0

Contractual receivables 0 0 0 0 0

Total	financial	assets 0 0 0 0 0
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Impairment of financial assets under AASB 
9 – applicable from 1 July 2018

From 1 July 2018, JCV has been recording the 
allowance for expected credit loss for the relevant 
financial	instruments,	replacing	AASB	139’s	incurred	
loss approach with AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss 
approach. Financial assets subject to AASB 9 
impairment assessment include JCV’s contractual 
receivables, statutory receivables and its investment 
in debt instruments. 

Equity	instruments	are	not	subject	to	impairment	
under	AASB	9.	Other	financial	assets	mandatorily	
measured or designated at fair value through net 
result are not subject to impairment assessment 
under	AASB	9.	While	cash	and	cash	equivalents	
are	also	subject	to	the	impairment	requirements	
of	AASB	9,	the	identified	impairment	loss	was	
immaterial. 

Contractual receivables at amortised cost

JCV	applies	AASB	9’s	simplified	approach	for	all	
contractual receivables to measure expected credit 
losses using a lifetime expected loss allowance 
based on the assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates. JCV has determined that 
it does not have any contractual receivables at 30 
June 2019 (2018: $nil).

Statutory receivables at amortised cost  

JCV’s non-contractual receivables arising from 
statutory	requirements	are	not	financial	instruments.	
However, they are nevertheless recognised and 
measured	in	accordance	with	AASB	9	requirements	
as	if	those	receivables	are	financial	instruments.	

Statutory receivables are considered to have low 
credit risk, taking into account the counterparty’s 
credit rating, risk of default and capacity to meet 
contractual	cash	flow	obligations	in	the	near	term.	
As the result, the loss allowance recognised for 
these	financial	assets	during	the	period	was	limited	
to 12 months expected losses. 

Financial instruments: Liquidity risk 

Liquidity	risk	arises	from	being	unable	to	meet	
financial	obligations	as	they	fall	due.	JCV	operates	
under the Government fair payments policy of 
settling	financial	obligations	within	30	days	and	in	
the event of a dispute, making payments within 30 
days from the date of resolution.

JCV	is	exposed	to	liquidity	risk	mainly	through	the	
financial	liabilities	as	disclosed	in	the	face	of	the	
balance	sheet	and	the	amounts	related	to	financial	
guarantees.	JCV	manages	its	liquidity	risk	by:

• close monitoring of its short-term and long-term 
borrowings by senior management, including 
monthly reviews on current and future borrowing 
levels	and	requirements;

• maintaining	an	adequate	level	of	uncommitted	
funds that can be drawn at short notice to meet 
its short-term obligations;  

• holding investments and other contractual 
financial	assets	that	are	readily	tradeable	in	the	
financial	markets;	

• careful	maturity	planning	of	its	financial	
obligations based on forecasts of future cash 
flows;	and

• a high credit rating for the State of Victoria 
(Moody’s Investor Services and Standard & Poor’s 
triple-A, which assists in accessing debt market at 
a lower interest rate).

JCV’s	exposure	to	liquidity	risk	is	deemed	
insignificant	based	on	prior	periods’	data	and	current	
assessment of risk. Cash for unexpected events is 
generally	sourced	from	liquidation	of	available-for-
sale	financial	investments.

8. OTHER DISCLOSURES

Introduction
This	section	includes	additional	material	disclosures	required	by	accounting	standards	or	otherwise,	for	the	
understanding	of	this	financial	report.

Structure 
8.1 Responsible persons 
8.2 Key management personnel  
8.3 Remuneration of executives  
8.4	 Remuneration	of	auditors	 	
8.5	 Other	accounting	policies	 	
8.6	 Subsequent	events	 	
8.7 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective

8.1 Responsible persons

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management	Act	1994,	the	following	disclosures	are	made	regarding	responsible	persons	for	the	reporting	
period. 

Names

The	persons	who	held	the	positions	of	Ministers	and	Accountable	Officer	in	JCV	are	as	follows:

Responsible Minister  Period

Attorney-General, The Hon. Martin Pakula MP  1 July 2018 to 28 November 2018 
Attorney-General, The Hon. Jill Hennessy MP  29 November 2018 to 30 June 2019 
Acting	Attorney-General,	The	Hon.	Benjamin	Carroll	MP	 	6	April	2019	to	14	April	2019

Accountable	Officer	  Period

Director, Richard Besley  1 July 2018 to 26 April 2019 
Acting	Director,	Jacqueline	Harrop	 	30	March	2019	to	30	June	2019

Governing Body

The persons who held membership of the Board of JCV are as follows:

Member Names  Period

The Honourable Chief Justice Mary Anne Ferguson, Chair  1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
The Honourable Chief Judge Peter Kidd   1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
His Honour Chief Magistrate Peter Lauritsen   1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
Her Honour Judge Amanda Chambers   1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
Her Honour Judge Sara Hinchey  1 July 2018 to 17 August 2018
Acting	State	Coroner	Iain	West	 	18	August	2018	to	15	April	2019
Acting State Coroner Caitlin English  16 April 2019 to 30 June 2019
The Honourable Justice Michelle Quigley   1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
Mr Graham Atkinson  1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
Ms Claire Keating  1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
Ms Helen Silver AO  1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019
Dr Helen Szoke AO  26 March 2019 to 30 June 2019
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Remuneration:	Accountable	Officer

2019 2018

No. No.

$40,000-$49,999

$50,000-$59,999 1

$150,000-$159,999 1

$200,000-$209,999 1

2 1

Remuneration: Non-Judicial Members

2019 2018

No. No.

$0 $9,999 4 4

4 4

Judicial members of the responsible body are 
remunerated under the Judicial Entitlements Act 
2015	as	holders	of	judicial	positions	defined	by	
the respective acts of law that create the Victorian 
judiciary, namely the Constitution Act 1975 s 82, 
County Court Act 1958 s.10, Magistrates Court Act 
shc.1 Pt1 cl.10 and Victorian Civil and Administrative 
Tribunal Act. 1998 s.17AA. The Judicial members 
receive no additional remuneration in their 
capacity as members of the Board of the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria.

8.2 Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel of JCV includes the 
responsible Minister, members of the Governing 
Body,	and	Accountable	Officer.

Remuneration of key management personnel 
comprises	employee	benefits	(as	defined	in	AASB	
119 Employee Benefits) in all forms of consideration 
paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on behalf 
of the entity, in exchange for services rendered. 
Accordingly, remuneration is determined on an 
accruals basis, and is disclosed in the following 
categories.  

Short-term	employee	benefits include amounts 
such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick 
leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular 
basis,	as	well	as	non-monetary	benefits	such	
as allowances and free or subsidised goods or 
services. 

Post-employment	benefits include pensions and 
other	retirement	benefits	paid	or	payable	on	a	
discrete basis when employment has ceased.

Other	long-term	benefits include long service 
leave,	other	long	service	benefits	or	deferred	
compensation. 

Termination	benefits	include termination of 
employment payments, such as severance 
packages.

The remuneration detailed below excludes the 
salaries	and	benefits	the	Minister	receives.	The	
Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by 
the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation 
Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of 
Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.

The remuneration of the Judicial members of the 
responsible body as holders of judicial positions 
is also excluded. The Judicial members receive 
no additional remuneration in their capacity as 
members of the Board of the Judicial Commission 
of Victoria.

Remuneration	of	executive	officers

2019 2018

Short-term	employee	benefits 193 201 

Post-employment	benefits	 21 18 

Other	long-term	benefits	 5	 5	

Total	remuneration	(i) 219	 223 

Note: (i) Total remuneration includes non-judicial 
members paid for attending sessional board 
meetings and the accountable officer.

8.2.1	Transactions	and	balances	with	key	
management personnel and other related parties 

Given the breadth and depth of State government 
activities, related parties transact with the Victorian 
public sector in a manner consistent with other 
members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other 
government fees and charges. Further employment 
of processes within the Victorian public sector occur 
on terms and conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and 
Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector 
Commission. Procurement processes occur on 
terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian 
Government	Purchasing	Board	requirements.	

JCV receives grant income from appropriations 
received by CSV as shown in note 2.1. JCV 
receives administrative support from CSV under a 
memorandum of understanding between the two 
entities. 

JCV paid the Department of Justice and Community 
Services	(DJCS)	outgoings	for	its	share	of	office	
space as shown within note 3.2 Accommodation 
and property services.  

The period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019, there were 
no related party transactions that involved key 
management personnel for JCV. 

8.3 Remuneration of executive officers

Other than the Director, who is the Accountable 
Officer,	there	are	no	other	executive	officers	
employed by JCV. 

8.4 Remuneration of auditors

2019 
$’000

2018 
$’000

Victorian	Auditor-General’s	Office

Audit	of	the	financial	statements	(i) 17 13

Total remuneration of auditors 17 13

(i) Additional $4,000 charged by VAGO in 2018-19 
that related to the 2017-18 audit.

8.5 Other accounting policies

Contributions by owners 

Consistent	with	the	requirements	of	AASB	1004	
Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, 
contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as 
equity	transactions	and,	therefore,	do	not	form	part	
of the income and expenses of JCV.

Additions to net assets that have been designated 
as contributions by owners are recognised as 
contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the 
nature of contributions to or distributions by owners 
have also been designated as contributions by 
owners. 

8.6 Subsequent events 

JCV	has	subsequently	incurred	investigating	panel	
expenditure	of	$0.356m	relating	to	an	ongoing	
investigation as at the reporting date which has 
subsequently	been	closed.	 	 	
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8.7 Australian Accounting Standards issued 
that are not yet effective

The following AASs become effective for reporting 
periods commencing after 1 July 2019:

• AASB	1059	Service	Concession	Arrangements:	
Grantor;

• AASB 16 Leases;

• AASB	15	Revenue	from	Contract	with	Customers;	
and

• AASB	1058	Income	of	Not-for-Profit	Entities.

Leases

AASB 16	Leases	replaces	AASB 117	Leases,	
AASB	Interpretation	4	Determining	whether	an	
Arrangement contains a Lease, AASB Interpretation 
115	Operating	Leases-Incentives	and	AASB	
Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of 
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. 

AASB 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 
and	requires	lessees	to	account	for	all	leases	on	
the balance sheet by recording a Right-Of-Use 
(RoU) asset and a lease liability except for leases 
that are shorter than 12 months and leases where 
the underlying asset is of low value (deemed to be 
below $10,000). 

AASB	16	also	requires	the	lessees	to	separately	
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability 
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use 
asset, and remeasure the lease liability upon the 
occurrence of certain events (e.g. a change in the 
lease term, a change in future lease payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used 
to determine those payments). The amount of the 
remeasurement of the lease liability will generally be 
recognised as an adjustment to the RoU asset.

Lessor accounting under AASB 16 is substantially 
unchanged from AASB 117. Lessors will continue 
to	classify	all	leases	using	the	same	classification	
principle as in AASB 117 and distinguish between 
two	types	of	leases:	operating	and	finance	leases.

The effective date is for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. JCV intends 
to	adopt	AASB	16	in	2019-20	financial	year	when	it	
becomes effective. 

JCV	will	apply	the	standard	using	a	modified	
retrospective approach with the cumulative effect 
of initial application recognised as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of accumulated surplus at 
1 July 2019, with no restatement of comparative 
information.

Various practical expedients are available on 
adoption	to	account	for	leases	previously	classified	
by a lessee as operating leases under AASB 117. 
JCV will elect to use the exemptions for all short-
term leases (lease term less than 12 months) and 
low value leases (deemed to be below $10,000). 

In addition, AASB 2018-8 – Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Right-of-Use 
Assets	(RoU)	of	Not-for-Profit	Entities	allows	a	
temporary	option	for	not-for-profit	entities	to	not	
measure RoU assets at initial recognition at fair 
value	in	respect	of	leases	that	have	significantly	
below-market terms, since further guidance is 
expected	to	be	developed	to	assist	not-for-profit	
entities in measuring RoU assets at fair value. The 
Standard	requires	an	entity	that	elects	to	apply	the	
option (i.e. measures a class or classes of such 
RoU assets at cost rather than fair value) to include 
additional disclosures. JCV intends to choose 
the temporary relief to value the RoU asset at the 
present	value	of	the	payments	required	(at	cost).

JCV has performed a detailed impact assessment of 
AASB 16 and the potential impact in the initial year 
of application has been estimated as follows:

• increase in RoU ($2.19 million),

• increase in related depreciation ($0.23 million),

• increase in lease liability ($2.19 million),

• increase in related interest ($0.06 million) 
calculated using effective interest method, and

• decrease in rental expense ($0.17 million).

The following AASs become effective for reporting periods commencing after the operative dates stated:

Certain new Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) have been published which are not mandatory for the 30 
June 2019 reporting period. DTF assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises JCV of their 
applicability and early adoption where applicable.

TOPIC(A) KEY REQUIREMENTS
EFFECTIVE 
DATE

IMPACT ON JCV FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

AASB	15	Revenue	
from Contracts with 
Customers

The	core	principle	of	AASB	15	requires	
an entity to recognise revenue when 
the	entity	satisfies	a	performance	
obligation by transferring a promised 
good or service to a customer. Note 
that	amending	standard	AASB	2015	8	
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Effective Date of AASB 
15	has	deferred	the	effective	date	of	
AASB	15	to	annual	reporting	periods	
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 
instead of 1 January 2017 for Not-for-
Profit	entities.

1-Jan-19 The changes in revenue 
recognition	requirements	
in	AASB	15	may	result	in	
changes to the timing and 
amount of revenue recorded 
in	the	financial	statements.	
Revenue from grants that are 
provided under an enforceable 
agreement	that	have	sufficiently	
specific	obligations,	will	now	
be deferred and recognised as 
the performance obligations 
attached to the grant are 
satisfied.

AASB	2018-4	
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
– Australian 
Implementation 
Guidance for Not-for-
Profit	Public-Sector	
Licensors

AASB	2018-4	amends	AASB	15	and	
AASB 16 to provide guidance for 
revenue recognition in connection with 
taxes and Non-IP licences for Not-for-
Profit	entities.	

1-Jan-19 AASB	2018-4	provides	additional	
guidance	for	not-for-profit	public	
sector licenses, which include:

• Matters to consider in 
distinguishing between a tax 
and a license, with all taxes 
being accounted for under 
AASB	1058;	

• IP licenses to be accounted 
for	under	AASB	15;	and	

• Non-IP, such as casino 
licenses, are to be accounted 
for in accordance with the 
principles	of	AASB	15	after	
first	having	determined	
whether any part of the 
arrangement should be 
accounted for as a lease 
under AASB 16.

AASB 2016-8 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Australian 
Implementation 
Guidance for Not-for-
Profit	Entities

AASB 2016-8 inserts Australian 
requirements	and	authoritative	
implementation guidance for not-for-
profit-entities	into	AASB	9	and	AASB	
15.	

1-Jan-19 This	standard	clarifies	the	
application	of	AASB	15	and	
AASB	9	in	a	not-for-profit	
context. The areas within these 
standards that are amended for 
not-for-profit	application	include:
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TOPIC(A) KEY REQUIREMENTS
EFFECTIVE 
DATE

IMPACT ON JCV FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

This Standard amends AASB 9 and 
AASB	15	to	include	requirements	to	
assist	not-for-profit	entities	in	applying	
the respective standards to particular 
transactions and events.

AASB 9 

• Statutory receivables are 
recognised and measured 
similarly	to	financial	assets.	

AASB	15

• The ‘customer’ does not need 
to be the recipient of goods 
and/or services;

• The	“contract”	could	include	
an arrangement entered into 
under the direction of another 
party;

• Contracts are enforceable if 
they are enforceable by legal 
or	‘equivalent	means’;

• Contracts do not have to have 
commercial substance, only 
economic substance; and

• Performance obligations need 
to	be	‘sufficiently	specific’	to	
be	able	to	apply	AASB	15	to	
these transactions.

AASB	1058	Income	of	
Not-for-Profit	Entities

AASB	1058	will	replace	the	majority	
of income recognition in relation 
to government grants and other 
types	of	contributions	requirements	
relating	to	public	sector	not-for-profit	
entities,	previously	in	AASB	1004	
Contributions. 

1-Jan-19 Grant revenue is currently 
recognised up front upon receipt 
of	the	funds	under	AASB	1004	
Contributions.

The restructure of administrative 
arrangement will remain under 
AASB	1004	and	will	be	restricted	to	
government entities and contributions 
by owners in a public sector context.

The timing of revenue 
recognition for grant agreements 
that fall under the scope of 
AASB	1058	may	be	deferred.	For	
example, revenue from capital 
grants for the construction of 
assets will need to be deferred 
and recognised progressively as 
the asset is being constructed.

AASB	1058	establishes	principles	
for transactions that are not within 
the	scope	of	AASB	15,	where	the	
consideration	to	acquire	an	asset	is	
significantly	less	than	fair	value	to	
enable	not-for-profit	entities	to	further	
their objective.

The impact on current revenue 
recognition of the changes is the 
potential phasing and deferral 
of revenue recorded in the 
operating statement.

TOPIC(A) KEY REQUIREMENTS
EFFECTIVE 
DATE

IMPACT ON JCV FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

AASB 17 Insurance 
Contracts

The new Australian standard 
eliminates inconsistencies and 
weaknesses in existing practices by 
providing a single principle based 
framework to account for all types 
of insurance contracts, including 
reissuance contract that an insurer 
holds.	It	also	provides	requirements	
for presentation and disclosure to 
enhance comparability between 
entities.

1-Jan-21 The assessment has indicated 
that	there	will	be	no	significant	
impact for the public sector.

This standard currently does not apply 
to	the	not-for-profit	public	sector	
entities.

AASB 2018-7 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards	–	Definition	
of Material

This Standard principally amends 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements	and	AASB 108	
Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors. 
The	amendments	refine	and	clarify	
the	definition	of	material	in	AASB	101	
and its application by improving the 
wording	and	aligning	the	definition	
across AASB Standards and other 
publications. The amendments also 
include	some	supporting	requirements	
in	AASB	101	in	the	definition	to	
give it more prominence and clarify 
the explanation accompanying the 
definition	of	material.

1-Jan-20 The standard is not expected to 
have	a	significant	impact	on	the	
public sector.

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending 
standards that are not effective for the 2018-19 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these 
amending	standards	include	editorial	and	references	changes	that	are	expected	to	have	insignificant	
impacts on public sector reporting.

• AASB 2017-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation

• AASB 2018-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Plan Amendments, Curtailment or 
Settlement

• AASB	2018-3	Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	–	Reduced	Disclosure	Requirements

• AASB	2018-6	Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	–	Definition	of	a	Business
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9. GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS AND STYLE CONVENTIONS

Comprehensive result is the amount included in the 
comprehensive operating statement representing 
total change in net worth other than transactions 
with owners as owners.

Current grants are amounts payable or receivable 
for	current	purposes	for	which	no	economic	benefits	
of	equal	value	are	receivable	or	payable	in	return.	

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the 
consumption through wear or time of a produced 
physical or intangible asset. This expense is 
classified	as	a	‘transaction’	and	so	reduces	the	‘net	
result from transactions’.

Effective interest method is the method used to 
calculate	the	amortised	cost	of	a	financial	asset	
and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through	the	expected	life	of	the	financial	asset	or,	
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Employee	benefits	expenses include all costs 
related to employment including wages and salaries, 
fringe	benefits	tax,	leave	entitlements,	redundancy	
payments,	defined	benefits	superannuation	plans,	
and	defined	contribution	superannuation	plans.

Financial asset is any asset that is:

a. cash;

b. an	equity	instrument	of	another	entity;

c. a contractual right:

 − 	to	receive	cash	or	another	financial	asset	from	
another entity; or

 − 	to	exchange	financial	assets	or	financial	
liabilities with another entity under conditions 
that are potentially favourable to the entity; or

d. a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s 
own	equity	instruments	and	is:

 −  a non-derivative for which the entity is or may 
be obliged to receive a variable number of the 
entity’s	own	equity	instruments;	or

 −  a derivative that will or may be settled other 
than	by	the	exchange	of	a	fixed	amount	of	cash	
or	another	financial	asset	for	a	fixed	number	of	
the	entity’s	own	equity	instruments.

Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise 
to	a	financial	asset	of	one	entity	and	a	financial	
liability	or	equity	instrument	of	another	entity.	

Financial liability is any liability that is: 

a. a contractual obligation:

 − 	to	deliver	cash	or	another	financial	asset	to	
another entity; or

 − 	to	exchange	financial	assets	or	financial	
liabilities with another entity under conditions 
that are potentially unfavourable to the entity; 
or

b. a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s 
own	equity	instruments	and	is:

 −  a non derivative for which the entity is or may 
be obliged to deliver a variable number of the 
entity’s	own	equity	instruments;	or

 −  a derivative that will or may be settled other 
than	by	the	exchange	of	a	fixed	amount	of	cash	
or	another	financial	asset	for	a	fixed	number	
of	the	entity’s	own	equity	instruments.	For	this	
purpose,	the	entity’s	own	equity	instruments	
do not include instruments that are themselves 
contracts for the future receipt or delivery of 
the	entity’s	own	equity	instruments.	

Financial statements in this report comprises: 

a. a balance sheet as at the end of the period;

b. a comprehensive operating statement for the 
period;

c. a	statement	of	changes	in	equity	for	the	period;

d. a	cash	flow	statement	for	the	period;

e. notes,	comprising	a	summary	of	significant	
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information;

f. comparative information in respect of the 
preceding	period	as	specified	in	paragraph	38	of	
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements; 
and

g. a	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	the	
beginning of the preceding period when an entity 
applies an accounting policy retrospectively or 
makes a retrospective restatement of items in its 
financial	statements,	or	when	it	reclassifies	items	
in	its	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	
paragraphs	41	of	AASB	101.

Grant expenses and other transfers are transactions 
in which one unit provides goods, services, assets 
(or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another 
unit	without	receiving	approximately	equal	value	in	
return. Grants can either be operating or capital in 
nature. 

While grants to governments may result in the 
provision of some goods or services to the 
transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim 
to	receive	directly	benefits	of	approximately	equal	
value. For this reason, grants are referred to by 
the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed 
non	reciprocal	transfers.	Receipt	and	sacrifice	of	
approximately	equal	value	may	occur,	but	only	by	
coincidence. For example, governments are not 
obliged	to	provide	commensurate	benefits,	in	the	
form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in 
return for their taxes. 

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants, which 
refer to grants that are not subject to conditions 
regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid 
as	specific	purpose	grants,	which	are	paid	for	a	
particular purpose and/or have conditions attached 
regarding their use.

General government sector comprises all 
government	departments,	offices	and	other	bodies	
engaged in providing services free of charge or at 
prices	significantly	below	their	cost	of	production.	
General government services include those that are 
mainly non-market in nature, those that are largely 
for collective consumption by the community and 
those that involve the transfer or redistribution 
of	income.	These	services	are	financed	mainly	
through taxes, or other compulsory levies and user 
charges. 

Grants for on-passing are grants paid to one 
institutional sector (e.g. a State general government 
entity) to be passed on to another institutional 
sector	(e.g.	local	government	or	a	private	non-profit	
institution). 

Interest expense represents costs incurred in 
connection with borrowings. It includes interest 
on advances, loans, overdrafts, bonds and bills, 
deposits,	interest	components	of	finance	lease	
repayments, and amortisation of discounts or 
premiums in relation to borrowings. 

Leases	are rights to use an asset for an agreed 
period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are 
classified	at	their	inception	as	either	operating	or	
finance	leases	based	on	the	economic	substance	of	
the	agreement	so	as	to	reflect	the	risks	and	rewards	
incidental to ownership. Leases of infrastructure, 
property,	plant	and	equipment	are	classified	as	
finance	leases	whenever	the	terms	of	the	lease	
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership from the lessor to the lessee. All other 
leases	are	classified	as	operating	leases.	

Net	financial	worth	is	equal	to	financial	assets	
minus liabilities. It is a broader measure than net 
debt as it incorporates provisions made (such as 
superannuation, but excluding depreciation and bad 
debts)	as	well	as	holdings	of	equity.	Net	financial	
worth	includes	all	classes	of	financial	assets	and	
liabilities, only some of which are included in net 
debt.  

Net operating balance or net result from 
transactions	is	a	key	fiscal	aggregate	and	is	
revenue from transactions minus expenses from 
transactions. It is a summary measure of the 
ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes 
gains and losses resulting from changes in price 
levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It 
is the component of the change in net worth that is 
due to transactions and can be attributed directly to 
government policies. 

Net result is	a	measure	of	financial	performance	
of the operations for the period. It is the net result 
of items of revenue, gains and expenses (including 
losses) recognised for the period, excluding those 
classified	as	‘other	non-owner	movements	in	equity’.	

Net worth is calculated as assets less liabilities, 
which is an economic measure of wealth.  

Non-financial	assets are all assets that are not 
financial	assets.	It	includes	land,	buildings,	plant	
and	equipment,	cultural	and	heritage	assets	and	
intangibles. 

Operating result	is	a	measure	of	financial	
performance of the operations for the period. It 
is the net result of items of revenue, gains and 
expenses (including losses) recognised for the 
period,	excluding	those	that	are	classified	as	‘other	
non-owner	movements	in	equity’.	Refer	also	‘net	
result’. 

98 Judicial Commission of Victoria Annual Report 2018–2019 99



Other	economic	flows	included	in	net	result are 
changes in the volume or value of an asset or 
liability that do not result from transactions. In 
simple	terms,	other	economic	flows	are	changes	
arising from market remeasurements. They include 
gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and 
impairments of non-current physical and intangible 
assets;	fair	value	changes	of	financial	instruments	
and agricultural assets; and depletion of natural 
assets (non-produced) from their use or removal.  

Other	economic	flows	–	other	comprehensive	
income	comprises	items	(including	reclassification	
adjustments) that are not recognised in net result as 
required	or	permitted	by	other	Australian	Accounting	
Standards. They include changes in physical 
asset revaluation surplus and gains and losses on 
remeasuring	available-for-sale	financial	assets.	

Payables includes short and long-term trade debt 
and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest 
payable. 

Present Value	is	a	financial	calculation	that	
measures the worth of future amount of money in 
today’s	dollars	adjusted	for	interest	and	inflation.

Produced assets include buildings, plant and 
equipment,	inventories,	cultivated	assets	and	certain	
intangible assets. Intangible produced assets 
may include computer software and research and 
development costs (not including the start-up costs 
associated with capital projects). 

Receivables include amounts owing from 
government through appropriation receivable, short 
and long-term trade credit and accounts receivable, 
accrued investment income, grants, taxes and 
interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services refers to income from 
the direct provision of goods and services and 
includes fees and charges for services rendered, 
sales of goods and services, fees from regulatory 
services and work done as an agent for private 
enterprises. It also includes rental income under 
operating leases and on produced assets, such 
as buildings and entertainment, but excludes rent 
income from the use of non-produced assets, such 
as land. User charges includes sale of goods and 
services income. 

Supplies and services generally represent cost 
of goods sold and the day to day running costs, 
including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal 
operations of JCV.

Taxation income represents income received from 
the State’s taxpayers and includes: 

• payroll tax, land tax and duties levied principally 
on conveyances and land transfers;

• insurance duty relating to compulsory third party, 
life and non life policies; 

• insurance	company	contributions	to	fire	brigades;	

• motor vehicle taxes, including registration fees 
and duty on registrations and transfers;

• levies (including the environmental levy) on 
statutory corporations in other sectors of 
government; and 

• other	taxes,	including	landfill	levies,	licence	and	
concession fees.

Transactions are	those	economic	flows	that	are	
considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, 
usually an interaction between two entities by 
mutual	agreement.	They	also	include	flows	into	
an entity such as depreciation, where the owner 
is simultaneously acting as the owner of the 
depreciating asset and as the consumer of the 
service provided by the asset. Taxation is regarded 
as mutually agreed interactions between the 
government and taxpayers. Transactions can be 
in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge 
or	for	nominal	consideration)	or	where	the	final	
consideration is cash. In simple terms, transactions 
arise from the policy decisions of the Government.

Style conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been 
rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and 
sums	of	components	reflect	rounding.	Percentage	
variations in all tables are based on the underlying 
unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the tables is as follows:

- zero, or rounded to zero

(xxx) negative numbers

200x year period

200x 0x year period

The	financial	statements	and	notes	are	presented	
based on the illustration for a government 
department in the 2018-19 Model Report for 
Victorian Government Departments.  

10. BUDGETARY REPORTING

Introduction
This section includes budget and variance analysis information.  

Structure 
10.1 Comprehensive operating statement   

10.2 Balance sheet   

10.3	Cash	flow	statement	 	 	

10.4	Statement	of	changes	in	equity	 	 	
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10.1 Comprehensive operating statement for the financial year ended 30 June 2019

VARIANCE  
NOTE

BUDGET 
2019

ACTUAL 
2019 VARIANCE

$’000 $’000 $’000

Continuing operations

Income from transactions

Output appropriations 0 0 0

Special appropriations 1 103 46 (57)

Grants 2 1,942 2,261 320

Other income 0 0 0

Total income from transactions 2,045 2,307 263

Expenses from transactions

Employee expenses 3 1,155 952 (203)

Depreciation and amortisation 83 83 (0)

Interest expense 0 0 0

Grants and other transfers 0 0 0

Capital asset charge 0 0 0

Supplies and services 4 807 1,063 257

Total expenses from transactions 2,045 2,098 54

Net	result	from	transactions	(net	operating	balance) 0 209 209

Other	economic	flows	included	in	net	result

Net	gain/(loss)	on	non-financial	assets 0 0 0

Net	gain/(loss)	on	financial	instruments 0 0 0

Other	gains/(losses)	from	other	economic	flows 0 (1) (1)

Total	other	economic	flows	included	in	net	result 0 (1) (1)

Net result 0 208 208

Other	economic	flows	other	comprehensive	income

Items	that	will	not	be	reclassified	to	net	result

Changes in physical asset revaluation reserve 0 0 0

Total	other	economic	flows	–	other	comprehensive	income 0 0 0

Comprehensive result 0 208 208

Notes: 

1.  The special appropriations budget is provided under the 
Constitution Act 1975 for remuneration of panel investigation 
members	who	are	not	Judicial	Officers.

2.  The grant income is received from Court Services Victoria 
(CSV).	It	includes	$0.4M	received	as	a	Treasurer’s	Advance	
to fund administration costs supporting investigation 
panels.  

3.  Employee expenses include remuneration payments to 
both the Commission employees and panel investigation 
members. The reported favourable variance is due to the 
underspend in the special appropriations warrant provided 
for panel investigation member remuneration payments and 
an underspend in the Commission’s employee expenses due 
to vacancies. 

4.		Professional	services	obtained	in	relation	to	panel	
investigations has resulted in the overspend of supplies 
and services. This is however offset by the underspend in 
employee expenses.

10.2 Balance sheet as at 30 June 2019

BUDGET 
2019

ACTUAL 
2019 VARIANCE

$’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 0 240	 240	

Receivables 0 273 273 

Total	financial	assets 0 512	 512	

Non-financial	assets

Non-financial	physical	assets	classified	as	held	for	sale 0 0 0 

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 0 208 208 

Intangible assets 0 145	 145	

Prepayments 0 0 0 

Total	non-financial	assets 0 353 353 

Total assets 0 865	 865	

Liabilities

Payables 0 359	 359	

Borrowings 0 0 0 

Provisions 0 85	 85	

Total liabilities 0 444 444 

Net assets 0 421	 421	

Equity

Accumulated	surplus/(deficit) 0 421	 421	

Contributed capital 0 0 0 

Physical asset revaluation surplus 0 0 0 

Net worth 0 421	 421	

Notes:

1. Balance Sheet budgets were not prepared for JCV.    
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10.3 Cash flow statement for the financial year ended 30 June 2019

VARIANCE  
NOTE

BUDGET 
2019

ACTUAL 
2019 VARIANCE

$’000 $’000 $’000

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Receipts

Receipts from Government 1 2,045 2,047 2

Goods and services tax recovered from the ATO 0 0 0

Total receipts 2,045 2,047 2

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees 2 (1,961) (1,807) 154

Payments of grants and other transfers 0 0 0

Capital assets charge payments 0 0 0

Interest	and	other	costs	of	finance	paid 0 0 0

Total payments (1,961) (1,807) 154

Net	cash	provided	by/(used	in)	operating	activities 83 240 156

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities

Purchases	of	non-financial	assets 0 0 0

Proceed	sales	of	non-financial	assets	 0 0 0

Net	cash	provided	by/(used	in)	investing	activities 0 0 0

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

Owner contributions by State Government 0 0 0

Repayment	of	borrowing	and	finance	leases 0 0 0

Net	cash	provided	by/(used	in)	financing	activities 0 0 0

Net	increase	(decrease)	in	cash	held 83 240 156

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	financial	
year

83 0 (83)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year 83 240 156

Notes:

1.  Receipts from Government represents revenue received from 
CSV,	the	appropriated	entity	and	includes	$0.4M	received	as	
a Treasurer’s Advance for panel investigations.

2.  Payments to suppliers and employees. The lower 
than	budget	spend	reflects	underspend	in	the	special	
appropiations warrant for panel investigations.

10.4 Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 30 June 2019

ORIGINAL BUDGET

BUDGET

2019

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS/ 
(DEFICIT)

CONTRIBUTIONS 
BY OWNER TOTAL

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 0 0 0 0

Net result for the year 0 208 0 208

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 0

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners

0 0 0 0

Balance	at	30	June	2019 0 208 0 208

Statement of Changes in Equity PHYSICAL ASSET 
REVALUATION 
SURPLUS

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS/ 
(DEFICIT)

CONTRIBUTIONS 
BY OWNER TOTAL

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 0 213 0 213

Net result for the year 0 208 0 208

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 0

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners

0 0 0 0

Balance	at	30	June	2019 0 421 0 421

Variance to budget PHYSICAL ASSET 
REVALUATION 
SURPLUS

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS/ 
(DEFICIT)

CONTRIBUTIONS 
BY OWNER TOTAL

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 0 213 0 213

Net result for the year 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 0

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners

0 0 0 0

0 213 0 213
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